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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean
that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This Report, for which the directors (the “Directors’) of Thiz Technology Group Limited collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars
given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to Thiz Technology Group Limited. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief: 1. the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading; 2. there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement in this report misleading, and 3. all opinions expressed in this
report have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded on bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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Corporate Information
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Executive Directors
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong (Chief Executive Officer and Chairman)
Ms. Yang Hui Ling

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen

Ms. Wu Chiao Ru

Ms. Hsieh Ju Lin

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chu Meng Chi

Ms. Chan Mei Sze

Ms. Lin Yan Jenny (resigned on 25 July 2019)

Ms. Chen Yun Jung (appointed on 22 October 2019)

Head Office and Principal Place of Business
Unit 810, 8/F, Tower B, Hunghom Commercial Centre

37 Ma Tau Wai Road

To Kwa Wan

Kowloon

Hong Kong

Registered Office
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

Principal Share Registrar

Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
4th Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road, George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-1110

Cayman Islands

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar
Tricor Tengis Limited

Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong
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Corporate Information (Continued)

Principal Banker

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Tsim Sha Tsui Branch

82-84 Nathan Road

Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon

Hong Kong

Auditor

BDO Limited

25th Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Chen Li Wei

Compliance Officer
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong

Audit Committee

Mr. Chu Meng Chi

Ms. Chan Mei Sze

Ms. Lin Yan Jenny (resigned on 25 July 2019)

Ms. Chen Yun Jung (appointed on 22 October 2019)

Company Secretary and Financial Controller
Mr. Wong Lam (FCPA, MBA)

Authorised Representatives
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong
Mr. Wong Lam (FCPA, MBA)

Company Website

www.thizgroup.com

General Information

Listing . Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Listing Date » 27 July 2001

Nominal Value : HK$1.0 per share

Stock Code

Hong Kong Stock Exchange . 8119

Reuters o 8119.HK

Bloomberg . 8119 HK
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB R

BUSINESS REVIEW
Leasing business

During the period under review, the Group’s leasing of office premises in
Shanghai, PRC, suffered from a limited impact of the COVID-19 epidemic. It
recorded an increase in turnover compared with the corresponding period of
last year, mainly due to increase in the number of properties sub-leased in
Shanghai.

The COVID-19 epidemic has caused setbacks in the global economy and real
estate market. During the outbreak, many enterprises suspended business,
travel was restricted and consumption slowed. The interruption of the global
supply chain severely affected small-sized enterprises with limited reserves.
Although the epidemic in China is now under better control, cities in many
countries and regions remain locked down and the global economy is tending
to decline, dampening China’s economic recovery to some extent. At present,
enterprises in most cities in China have resumed work, yet certain companies
are still exercising tight cost control, while others have been forced to lay off
employees and/or cut unnecessary costs. The epidemic caused temporary
suspensions of constructions in progress which, coupled with financing and
market factors, resulted in delays to several office projects. Consequently
no new projects were launched in the Shanghai Grade A office market in the
fourth quarter of last year. The absorption of Shanghai Grade A office market
remained basically stable on a month-on-moth basis, but recorded a decrease
compared with last year. Leasing demand mainly generated from deals entered
before the epidemic and the net absorption of Puxi were better than Pudong
during the same period. The Puxi area is more favoured by the retail consumer
sector, which in turn supports its office demand. Since there was no new
supply, the market absorbed the existing inventory, causing the average office
vacancy rate for the entire city to decrease by 0.5 percentage points month-
on-month.

The epidemic has changed ways of living and modes of work. Employees’
reliance on online offices increased, and face-to-face negotiations were
supplanted by telephone and videoconferences during the epidemic. Even after
resuming work, many companies continued to encourage this flexible office
model to protect the health of their employees. During the epidemic, office
rental activities were interrupted, with more tenants cancelling their relocation
plans and opting to renew their leases. In response to the epidemic, many
owners of office premises cooperated with the property management team to
take preventative measures such as temperature checks, disinfection regimes
and improved ventilation for tenants. Some adopted smart technologies
such as contactless lift-calling to protect the health of tenants and ensure
an efficient resumption of business. Many owners have implemented rent
exemptions for eligible small- and medium-sized enterprises. During the
epidemic, some newer office buildings launched a new online viewing model
to attract potential tenants. This emerging marketing model can attract the
attention of potential customers who will then carry out a physical inspection
of the premises and final transaction after the resumption of work.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Software business

Due to the impact of COVID-19, some products were delivered later than
expectation, turnover of the Group’s software business still has increased
compared with the corresponding period of last year. Many consumers use
financial technology applications for personal financial management, with the
greatest proportion of such users being professionals aged 25 to 35, and there
are still demand factors at play in the software business as well as space for
business development.

Financial technology (FinTech) applications have gradually become a part of
daily life, but many people still believe they lack sufficient understanding and
education of relevant knowledge and applications to make full use of the
technology. Although FinTech applications are becoming increasingly popular
in Hong Kong, only 10% of Hong Kongers believe they have a good grasp on
it. Many people believe that financial education has become more important
with the rapid development of technology. FinTech companies also play an
important role in helping consumers manage their personal finances.

Prospects

The impact of COVID-19 has led to delays in the delivery of some office
projects in Shanghai, down from the forecast at the beginning of the year. Due
to the uncertain economic prospects and tenants’ wait-and-see attitude, it is
expected that demand for leasing will continue to diminish. However, in the
long run, demand from the medical, insurance, IT and logistics industries gives
cause for optimism. In view of the recent weak leasing sentiment, relatively
new office premises should continue to be marketed and promoted, while
mature office premises will focus on property management and maintaining
tenant relationships. For some office buildings with high vacancy levels, owners
actively adjust their strategies to increase the flexible payment methods and
leasing periods of lease terms to attract clients and increase the occupancy
rate.

Many consumers recognise that fintech can help them manage their personal
finances better. The greatest benefits of fintech are its speed and flexibility,
followed by providing consumers with lower-cost or more cost-effective
transactions, and more efficient access to consolidated financial data through
the opening of banks driven by open application interfaces.

Looking forward, although the global economy remains affected by the
COVID-19 pandemic, we will actively respond to this challenging market
environment and have full confidence in the future. The Group will take
a prudent approach and seek investment opportunities to seize current
market opportunities, expand the Group’s income sources, and enhance its
profitability.
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Management Discussion and Analysis [Contmued]

BB RS (4)

Financial Review
The Group’s consolidated revenue from principal activities amounted to

HK$17,735,000 (2019: HK$17,112,000).
taxation for the year was HK$3,730,000, compared to loss before taxation of

During the year, profit before

HK$13,308,000 in the corresponding period of last year.

Gross profit for the Group increased from HK$2,624,000 in 2019 to
HK$14,086,000 in 2020, while the gross profit margin increased by 64% from
15% in 2019 due to decrease in direct costs of Fintech.

Total general and administrative expenses were approximately HK$9,756,000
(2019: HK$13,229,000). Compared to last year, they have decreased by 26%.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company and earnings per share for the
year were HK$3,258,000 (2019: loss of HK$12,960,000) and HK1.16 cents
(2019: loss per share HK4.66 cents) respectively.

Financial resources, liquidity and capital structure

As at 31 March 2020, total assets of the Group amounted to HK$101,755,000
(2019: HK$79,190,000). Current assets amounted to HK$29,680,000 (2019:
HK$32,309,000), of which HK$26,296,000 (2019: HK$29,530,000) were cash
and bank deposits. Current liabilities of HK$10,523,000 (2019: HK$9,318,000)
mainly comprised of rental receipts in advance, trade and other payables,
lease liabilities, contract liabilities, deposits received and accruals and amounts
due to a shareholder. Current ratio of the Group was 2.8 (2019: 3.5) and
gearing ratio of the Group was 0.23 (2019: 0.01) representing the Group’s
borrowings divided by total equity comprising equity attributable to owners of
the Company and non-controlling interest.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had net current assets of approximately
HK$19,157,000 (2019: HK$22,991,000).

Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s main operations are in the PRC and Taiwan and its income and
expenses are transacted in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and New Taiwan Dollar (“NT$”)
respectively. Accordingly, it has no significant exposure to foreign exchange
risk.

Charges on assets and contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had no charge, pledge of assets or
contingent liabilities.

Capital commitments

At the end of reporting period, the Group had no material capital commitment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Management and employees

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 23 employees, including the Directors of
the Company. Salaries of employees are primarily based on prevailing market
salary levels. Other employees’ benefits include mandatory provident fund,
medical cover and other insurance.

Events subsequent to the end of reporting period

() The outbreak of novel coronavirus (“COVID-19") since early January 2020
has affected many business and economic activities in Hong Kong, the
PRC and the globe. The Group has been closely monitoring the situation
of the COVID-19 and will take all possible and appropriate measures
to mitigate any adverse impacts on the Group’s operations. Based on
the Group’s assessment so far, there should not be material impact on
the Group’s ability to operate as a going concern although its financial
performance and position will be affected to a certain extent which cannot
be reasonably estimated at this stage.

(i)  Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated 28
February 2020 and 9 March 2020 (the “Announcements”). Unless
otherwise specified, capitalized terms used in this announcement shall
have the same meanings as those defined in the Announcements.

The review hearing of the Decision by the GEM Listing Committee took place
on 2 June 2020. On 12 June 2020, the Company received a letter from the
GEM Listing Committee that they had decided to uphold the Decision (the
“GEM Listing Committee Decision”) to suspend trading in the Company’s
shares under GEM Listing Rule 9.04(3).

Under GEM Listing Rule 4.06, the Company has the right to have the GEM
Listing Committee Decision referred to the GEM Listing Review Committee (the
“GEM LRC”) for a further review. The Company is currently in the process of
reviewing the GEM Listing Committee Decision and lodged a review request on
22 June 2020 for the GEM Listing Committee’s decision to be referred to the
GEM LRC for a further review.
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Biographical Details of Directors
RN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Hoi Wong

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman

Mr. Wong Hoi Wong, aged 65, is an Executive Director and a founder of the
Group. Mr. Wong has over 30 years’ experience in sales and marketing, in
particular in electronics and computer industries. Mr. Wong was the Chairman
of Association of Electronic Components Industry of Taipei from 1990 to
1993. He oversees the sales and marketing strategies of the Group. Mr.
Wong graduated from the Department of Industrial Management of Tamsui
Oxford College in Taiwan with a diploma and a MBA of the University of South
Australia.

Ms. Yang Hui Ling

Ms. Yang Hui Ling, aged 52, she was graduated from Simon Fraser University
B.C. Canada. She worked for Siemens, Louis Vuitton etc. as the Executive
Assistance to General Manager. She also worked for financial related
companies, such as Allianz as an Executive Officer. She has over 20 years’
management experience in various industries.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Hsieh Ju Lin

Ms. Hsieh Ju Lin, aged 50, she was graduated from Temple University, USA,
MBA programs. She started her career since 1998, she had worked for
high tech company as an Executive Officer, and also have 15 years working
experience in finance/investment industry. She is currently a director of
Wealthway Holdings Limited.

Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen

Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen, aged 55, she was graduated from the department of
Broadcasting and TV of Shih Hsin University in Taiwan. She was the Executive
Secretary of Franklin Advisors Inc. and subsequently worked as the Vice
President of Le Kao Co., Ltd. Ms. Hsieh has extensive experience in the field
of administration and management.

Ms. Wu Chiao Ru

Ms. Wu Chiao Ru, aged 52, she was graduated with a Master Degree in
Management from Yuan Ze University in Taiwan. She was the Assistant
to President of Lung Hwa Electronics Co., Ltd. from 2002 to 2003, and
subsequently the Vice President of Chi Fu Jong Hua Co., Ltd. Ms. Wu has
extensive experience in the field of public relations and consultancy.
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Biographical Details of Directors (Continued)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chu Meng Chi

Mr. Chu Meng Chi, aged 55, he obtained a Bachelor degree in Business
Administration from the Taiwan National Sun Yat-sen University. Mr. Chu has
over 20 years’ experience in the field of corporate administration and financial
investment.

Ms. Chan Mei Sze

Ms. Chan Mei Sze, aged 55, is an associate member of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and fellow member of Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. She has over 23 years’ accounting and finance
experience in various industries in Hong Kong.

Ms. Chen Yun Jung

Ms. Chen Yun Jung, aged 53, graduated from the department of French
of Taiwan University. She worked for financial services and information
management companies after graduation as Senior Supervisor. She has over
20 years’ management experience in related industries.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

INTRODUCTION

The Company endeavors to comply with all the code provisions on Corporate
Governance Practices as set out in the GEM Listing Rules by establishing a
formal and transparent procedure to protect and maximise the interests of
shareholders during the year ended 31 March 2020.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings
as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have complied with such code
of conduct and the required standard of dealings and its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors throughout the year ended
31 March 2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for managing the Company on behalf of shareholders.
The Board is of the view that it is the Directors’ responsibility to create value
for shareholders as a whole and safeguard the best interests of the Company
and the shareholders by discharging its duties in a dedicated, diligent and
prudent manner on the principle of good faith.

The Board comprises a total of eight Directors, with two Executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Wong Hoi Wong (CEO and Chairman) and Ms. Yang Hui Ling;
three Non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Hsieh Ju Lin, Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen
and Ms. Wu Chiao Ru and three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely,
Ms. Chen Yun Jung, Mr. Chu Meng Chi and Ms. Chan Mei Sze.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company is of the view that all Independent Non-executive Directors meet
the independence guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The primary functions of the Board include:

(i)

(if)

(ii)

(vi)

deciding on the overall strategies, overseeing operational and financial
performance and formulating appropriate policies to manage risk
exposure associated with realising the strategies and goals of the Group;

being held accountable for the internal control system of the Company
and responsible for reviewing its effectiveness;

being ultimately responsible for preparing financial accounts and
discussing the performance, financial conditions and prospects of the
Company in a balanced, clear and comprehensible manner. These
responsibilities are applicable to quarterly, interim and annual reports of
the Company, other price sensitive announcements published according
to the GEM Listing Rules and disclosure of other financial information,
reports submitted to regulatory bodies and information disclosable under
statutory requirements; and regularly reviewing its own functions and
the powers conferred upon Executive Directors to ensure appropriate
arrangements are in place;

whilst Executive Directors, who oversee the overall business of the
Company, are responsible for the daily operations of the Company, the
Board is responsible for affairs involving the overall policies, finance and
shareholders of the Company, namely financial statements, dividend
policy, significant changes to accounting policies, annual operating
budgets, material contracts, major financing arrangements, principal
investment and risk management strategy;

the management is well informed of its powers and duties with clear
guidelines and instructions, in particular regarding situations under which
reporting to the Board is necessary and matters that require the approval
of the Board before any decisions or commitments can be made on
behalf of the Company; and

the full Board meets at least four times a year, at approximately quarterly
intervals, to review the financial performance, results of each period,
material investments and other matters of the Group that require the
resolution of the Board. Simultaneous conference call may be used to
improve attendance when individual director cannot attend the meeting
in person. Opinions of the Independent Non-executive Directors are
actively sought by the Company if they are unable to attend the meeting
in person.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

/.LE"EFI (A-IE)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(vi) The terms of reference of the Board also include:

(a) to develop and review the policies and practices on corporate

governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the policies and practices on compliance with

legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to

employees and directors; and

(e) to review the compliance with the Code and disclosure in the

Corporate Governance Report.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, list of Directors and the attendance

records of the Directors and members of the committees:

Total Number of Meetings

Number of meetings
attended/eligible to attend

Executive Directors
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong
Ms. Yang Hui Ling

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen

Ms. Wu Chiao Ru

Ms. Hsieh Ju Lin

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chu Meng Chi

Ms. Chan Mei Sze

Ms. Lin Yan Jenny

Ms. Chen Yun Jung
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group has adopted a set of Code on Corporate Governance (“Company
Code”) which sets out the corporate standards and practices used by the
Group to direct and manage its business affairs. It is prepared by referencing
to the principles, code provisions and recommended best practices set out in
the Code on Corporate Governance (“GEM Code”) contained in Appendix 15
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Board will continue to monitor and revise the
Company Code and assess the effectiveness of our corporate governance
practices in tandem with changes in the environment and requirements under
the GEM Code, to ensure the Company Code is in line with the expectations
and interests of shareholders and comply with the GEM Code.

Except as mentioned below, the Company applied the principles and complied
with all the code provisions as set out in the GEM Code.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The GEM Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer should be separated and should not be performed by the
same individual. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Mr. Wong Hoi Wong is both the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the
Company who is responsible for managing the Board and the Group business.
The Board considers that, with the present board structure and scope of
business of the Group, there is no imminent need to separate the roles into
two individuals as Mr. Wong is perfectly capable of distinguishing the priority
of these roles in which he has been acting. However, the Board will continue
to review the effectiveness of the Group corporate governance structure
to assess whether the separation of the positions of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer is necessary.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Under the GEM Code Provision A.4.1, all the Non-executive Directors should
be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. At present, the Non-
executive Directors are not appointed for a specific term, but are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s
Articles of Association.

Code Provision A.6.7 and E.1.2

Code Provision A.6.7 stipulates that Independent Non-executive Directors and
other Non-executive Directors should attend general meeting and have a fair
understanding of the shareholders’ opinion. Code Provision E.1.2 stipulates
that the Chairman of the Board should attend the Annual General Meeting and
also invite the Chairman of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee,
the Nomination Committee and any other committee to the meeting.

Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors could
not attend the Annual General Meeting held on 27 September 2019 due to
extraordinary business activities and unexpected events.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

ExERHE (F

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

The Company reports to all Directors regularly to allow the Directors to fully
understand the responsibility they share in the operation and the business
of the Group. The Group arranges professional development training for all
Directors to broaden and update their knowledge and skills, constantly informs
all Directors about the GEM Listing Rules and the latest development of other
applicable regulations to ensure the Directors comply with relevant regulation
and raise their awareness of good corporate governance practices. All

Directors have provided their training record.

The records of training the Directors received during the year ended 31 March

2020 are as follows:

Name of Directors

Executive Directors
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong
Ms. Yang Hui Ling

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen

Ms. Wu Chiao Ru

Ms. Hsieh Ju Lin

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chu Meng Chi

Ms. Chan Mei Sze

Ms. Chen Yun Jung
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

INSURANCE FOR DIRECTORS AND SENIOR STAFF

The Company has made appropriate arrangement regarding insurance, which
covers potential legal action faced by Directors and senior staff.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wong Lam is the Company Secretary of the Company. His authorized
duties include ensuring the Board of Directors to operate effectively and
fulfill its duties, drafting agenda for the Board of Directors’ meetings and
shareholders’ meetings and ensuring the clear and effective communication
among members of the Board and also between members of the Board and
the shareholders and management. During the year, the company secretary
has undergone professional training for over 15 hours to gain the most
updated knowledge to facilitate his discharge of duties.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Membership

1. The Committee shall consist of 3 Independent Non-Executive Directors
appointed by the Board of Directors of the Company from time to time.

2. The Board shall nominate one of the members as the Chairman of the
Committee.

3. The Company Secretary or his nominee shall act as the Committee’s
Secretary.

Frequency and proceedings of meetings

4. The Committee shall meet at least once every year.

5. The Chairman of the Committee may convene additional meetings at his
discretion.

6. The quorum of a meeting shall be 2 members of the Committee.

7. Proceedings of meetings of the Committee shall be governed by the

provisions of the Articles of Association of the Company.

Duties, powers and functions

8. The Committee shall:

(@) implement the remuneration policy laid down by the Board;

(b) recommend to the Board the policy and structure for the
remuneration of Directors and senior management;

(c) review the remuneration of Directors and senior management;
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

ExERHE (H)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)
Duties, powers and functions (continued)

(d) review and approve the compensation arrangements in
connection with any loss or termination of their office or
appointment, or dismissal or removal for misconduct to Directors;

(e) review the criteria for assessing employee performance, which
should reflect the Company’s business objectives and targets;

(f) consider the annual performance bonus for Executive Directors,
senior management, and the general staff, having regard to their
achievements against the performance criteria and by reference
to market norms and make recommendation to the Board;

(9 do any such things to enable the Committee to discharge its
powers and functions conferred on it by the Board; and

(h) conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may
from time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the
constitution of the Company or imposed by legislation.

9. The Committee shall be provided with sufficient resources to enable it to
perform its functions.

Reporting Procedures
10.  The Committee shall report to the Board on a regular basis.

The Chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Chu Meng Chi, an
Independent Non-executive Director, and other members include Ms. Chen
Yun Jung and Ms. Chan Mei Sze being Independent Non-executive Directors.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee of the Company convened
one meeting, and all matters concerning the determination of remuneration
of the Directors and senior management were discussed. In addition, the
remuneration policies and incentive mechanism applicable to the Directors and
senior management and the overall remuneration system of the Group were
further refined and reasonable recommendations were made to the Board in
the meeting.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Membership
1. The Committee shall consist of 5 Directors appointed by the Company’s

Board of Directors from time to time, at least 3 of them shall be
Independent Non-executive Directors.

2. The Board shall designate one of the members as the Committee’s
Chairman.

3. The Company Secretary or his nominee shall act as the Committee’s
Secretary.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Frequency and proceedings of meetings

4. The Committee shall meet at least once annually.

58 In addition, the Committee’s Chairman may convene additional meetings
at his discretion.

6. The quorum of a meeting shall be 3 Committee members.

7. Proceedings of the Committee’s meetings shall be governed by the
Company’s Articles of Association.

Duties, powers and functions

8. The Committee shall:

(@)

regularly review the structure, size and composition of the Board;
and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to implement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(b) identify and nominate candidates to the Board;

(c) assess the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors;

(d) make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating
to the succession planning for the Chairman, the Chief Executive
Officer as well as the senior management;

(e) do any such things to enable the Committee to discharge its
powers and functions conferred on it by the Board; and

() conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may
from time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the
Company’s constitution or imposed by legislation.

9. The Committee shall be provided with sufficient resources to enable it to

perform its functions.

Reporting Procedures

10.  The Committee shall report to the Board on a regular basis.

The Nomination Committee of the Company currently comprises five Directors,
including two Executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Hoi Wong and Ms.
Yang Hui Ling, three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Chen
Yun Jung, Mr. Chu Meng Chi and Ms. Chan Mei Sze, the Chairman of the
Committee is Mr. Wong Hoi Wong.

During the year, the committee convened one meeting, reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Board; and made recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to implement the Company’s corporate

strategy and discharged its powers and functions conferred on it by the Board.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of the

financial statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements

are in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting

standards. The Directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial

statements of the Group.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company, BDO Limited, about

their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set

out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 35 to 40 of this annual

report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

(@)

The Audit Committee of the Company currently comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Chen Yun Jung, Mr.
Chu Meng Chi and Ms. Chan Mei Sze. The Audit Committee possesses
a wealth of experience and expertise including accounting profession,
and regulatory experience both in Hong Kong, Taiwan and the PRC. The
Chairman of the committee is Mr. Chu Meng Chi.

During the year, the Board reviewed the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee and has made relevant amendments to accommodate the
requirements of the GEM Code, where appropriate.

The primary function of the Audit Committee is to review and supervise
the Group’s financial reporting system, internal control procedures and to
maintain good and independent communications with the management as
well as auditor of the Company.

In discharging its responsibility, the Audit Committee has performed the
following work:

()  reviewed the draft annual and quarterly financial statements during
the year; and

(i) reviewed, in conjunction with the auditor, the development of

accounting standards and assessed their potential impacts on the

Group’s financial statements.

The Audit Committee met four times during the year to review the results
of the Group.

Audit Committee is to be responsible for making recommendation to the
Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external
auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of
the external auditor, and any questions of resignation or dismissal of that
auditor.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

AUDITOR

The details of auditor’s remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2020 are
set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for a reliable and efficient internal control and risk
management system of the Group and reviews whether the operation is
adequate and effective through the Audit Committee.

Internal control and risk management system includes the management, the
authority and responsibilities of whom is as follows:

(1) help to achieve business target and protect the Group’s assets;

2) ensure the proper maintenance and reliability of accounting record and
financial report;

(3) ensure compliance with relevant regulations; and

(4) Identify and reduce the Group’s major risk.

The purpose of establishing internal control and risk management system is to
reasonably prevent the Group from material mistake and loss and to closely

monitor the risks threatening the Group to achieve targets.

During this financial year, according to the assessment of the Group’s
management, the Audit Committee believes that:

A. the Group has conducted an identification, assessment and
management process for material risks threatening to its businesses;
and

B. an effective and proper internal control and risk management system

has been maintained throughout this financial year.

Having regards to the simple nature and size of the Group’s business projects
during the financial year, the Group did not establish a special internal audit
department. In future, the Board will have an annual review to assess whether
it is necessary to set up such department to carry out internal audit.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no significant change in the constitutional documents during the year.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

ExERHE (F

PARTICULARS OF SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

1. The Articles of Association set out the rights of our shareholders.

2. All shares have the same voting rights and are entitled to the dividends
declared.

3. Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Shareholder(s) holding not less

than one-tenth of the paid-up capital may request the Board to convene
an extraordinary general meeting. The objects of the meeting must be
stated in the related requisition deposited at the registered office.

4. For including a resolution relating to other matters in a general meeting,
shareholders are requested to follow the requirements and procedures
as set out in the Articles of Association.

5. Pursuant to the Articles of Association, if a shareholder wish to propose
a person other than a retiring Director for election as a Director at a
general meeting, the shareholder should deposit a written notice of
nomination which shall be given to the Company Secretary within the
7-day period commencing the day after the despatch of the notice of
the meeting (or such other period as may be determined and announced
by the Directors from time to time).

6. Shareholders have the right to receive corporate communications in
hard copies.
7. Shareholders whose shares held in the Central Clearing and Settlement

System (CCASS) may notify us from time to time through Hong Kong
Securities Clearing Company Limited if they wish to receive our
corporate communications.

SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY

1. This Policy aims to set out the provisions with the objective of ensuring
Shareholders are provided with information about the Company, in order
to enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner,
and to allow Shareholders to engage actively with the Company.

2. The Board shall maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders, and
will regularly review this Policy to ensure its effectiveness.

3. Information shall be communicated to Shareholders mainly through
the Company’s financial reports, annual general meetings and other
general meetings that may be convened, as well as by making available
all the disclosures submitted to the Stock Exchange and its corporate
communications and other corporate publications on the website.

4. Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to
the Company’s Registrar.

5. Corporate communication will be provided to Shareholders in plain
language and in both English and Chinese versions to facilitate
Shareholders’ understanding. Information released by the Company
to the Stock Exchange is also posted on the Company’s website
immediately thereafter. Such information includes financial statements,
results announcements, circulars and notices of general meetings and
associated explanatory documents etc.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY

(continued)

6. Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to
appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings for and on their behalf
if they are unable to attend the meetings. Board members, appropriate
management executives and external auditor will attend annual general
meetings to answer Shareholders’ questions.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company’s Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy. Under the Policy,
the Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board with a vision for the Company to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development. Appointments of directors are made on merits, including but
not limited to, sex, age, cultural and educational background, while having
due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. They represent diverse
career experience in both international and local enterprises. They bring with
them diverse professional backgrounds, spanning management, advisory and
finance.

The Board composition reflects various cultural and educational backgrounds,
professional development, length of service, knowledge of the Company
and a broad range of individual attributes, interests and values. The Board
considers the current line-up has provided the Company with a good balance
and diversity of skills and experience for the requirements of its business.
The Board will continue to review its composition from time to time taking
into consideration board diversity for the requirements and benefits of the
Company’s business.

ADOPTION OF DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board of Directors of the Company has approved and adopted a dividend
policy. The Dividend Policy aims to create long-term, sustainable and stable
returns for the Company’s shareholders.

According to the Dividend Policy, when recommending any dividend payout,
the Board will take into account a series of factors, including:

1. actual and expected financial performance and financial position,

2. expected working capital requirements and future development plans,

3. shareholders’ interests,

4. business strategy and development,

5. economic situation as well as other internal and external factors that
may have impacts on the Company’s financial performance and financial
position.

The Dividend Policy must be in accordance with applicable laws, regulations,
rules and the Company’s Articles of Association. The Company will review
the Dividend Policy on a regular basis and reserves the right in its sole
and absolute discretion to update, amend or modify the Dividend Policy at
any time. The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Company.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
B B RERRE

The Group recognises the importance of environmental protection and thereby

endeavors to look for environmental protection solution to achieve low-carbon

and simple office culture in order to create a better future.

This report is prepared with reference to the “Environmental, Social and

Governance Reporting Guide” as set out in Appendix of the GEM Listing Rules.

A.

A1

ENVIRONMENTAL

The operation of the Group has limited impact on the environment.
The main busines of the Group is not the main cause of environmental
pollution. Moreover, the business of the Group does not involve industrial
activitles and thus the total amount of emission, resources used and
waste produced is low.

The Group strongly encourages the staff to implement a green office
culture, such as, if possible, sending and scanning documents by
email in order to reduce paper usage. Meanwhile, we also require
staff to use recycled papers first for printing internal documents and
minimizes the using of one-off products. In addition, in order to reduce
the environmental impact of staff’'s business trip, we hold meetings by
teleconference as far as possible, which can reduce the cost of business
trip, on the other hand, can minimize the adverse environmental impact
from travelling. Besides, we ask our clients to provide electronic monthly

statements as far as possible to reduce paper usage.

Since the conservation of global environment and natural resources has
fundamental impact to the human beings, it is the responsibility of all
our peoples to protect the environment. We reduce energy and natural
resources consumption in practice, reduce wastes, and choose renewable
and recycled products as far as possible. In addition, we encourage our
clients and suppliers to attach importance to environmental measures and
practice.

Emissions

We strive to implement the following emissions reduction measures during
our daily operation:

1. Reduce time of lighting usage;

2. Strengthen the shading and insulation of office, so as to delay the
turning on of air-conditioner or turning off air conditioning early;

3. Replace high efficiency and energy saving light pipe and LED lighting
system;
Purchase energy saving office equipment; and
Provide staff with green office information.

Reduce carbon emissions and reduce waste by wastage reduction and
strict waste sorting and recycling.
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A2

A3

B1

B2

B3

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Use of Resources

We actively use the office equipment, so that the best efficiency can be
attained in our daily operation.

The Environment and Natural Resources

In order to protect natural resources, we choose green purchases, such
as buying environmentally friendly toners and ink cartridges. At the same
time, we reduce the use of photocopying paper by double-sided printing
and use recycled papers; use the photocopier’s scanning function to
replace document fax and file storage, and implement online vacation
application system, online internal document approval, and agree with
business partners to transfer documents by emails, electronic billings and
other forms of documents to reduce paper usage, as far as possible.

SOCIAL

Employment

The Group equally treats every employee without considering their
ethnicity, race, nationality, sex, religion, age and marriage status when
determining their employment, remuneration package and promotion.
To create a diversified working environment, we hope that all staff
can appreciate, take care and respect each other regardless of their
difference.

Health and Safety

The Group’s human resources policy is to attract and foster excellent
talents and provide a proper environment for them to unlock their
potential. Therefore, prefect staff management system, reasonable
remuneration and benefit package, supportive training and development
solution, optimized working environment and adequate health and medical
and operation safety insurance are important measures for our human
resources strategy.

We will establish a working environment without worry to realize our
common vision and share the result of sustainable development with our
staff.

Development and Training

Staff is the most important asset of the Group. Therefore, the Group
pays serious attention to the promotion and training of staff. In addition
to providing internal and external training and career development
opportunities to our staff, our senior management maintains
communication with the staff at any time, encourage and guide the staff
to put their energy into work and inspirit them to work hard together to
fulfill our business targets. We foster professional team through training in
order to support our sustainable business development.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report [Corﬁinued]

BRIg

B4

BS

B6

B7

B8

HERERSRE (E)

Labour Standards

The Group has established the “Employment and Compensation &
Benefits Policies” to meet the requirements of “Employment Ordinance”
and the “Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance”. The Group is
forbidden to recruit child labor and compulsory labor. The Group is fully
responsible for the employer’s liability, including the provision of benefits
to employees.

Supply Chain Management

The Group relies on the products and services from the suppliers
to support our business operation and to provide quality services to
customers. Accordingly, supply chain management is an important part of
the Group’s operation. As such regard, we establish following assessment
criteria for the suppliers, including three aspects such as environmental
protection, social responsibility and ethics. Meanwhile, we set up a
transparent and arm’s length procuring procedure. Before placing orders
for products and services, the Group conducts a qualification assessment
on the supplier to ensure to obtain the best products from a suitable
supplier. The assessment includes reviewing the supplier’s costs, quality,
environmental protection awareness, conduct, and performance of social
responsibility etc. Such requirements to suppliers are not only for protect
our business, but also represent our effort to fulfill social responsibility.

Product Responsibility

The Group requires all staff to be superb, professional and honest. In
order to ensure all staff formalized with and strictly following each relevant
regulations and code of conducts, the Group set up a code of conducts
that our staff must strictly comply with, which lists the matters all staff
shall have to follow, covering relevant matters in relation to regulations
and governance, including prevention of bribery, use of information and
personal conduct.

Anti-corruption

The Group strictly abides by anti-corruption and incorruptible laws and
regulations. Internally, the Group has implemented a staff code and
management system, requiring all employees to maintain a high level of
business ethics. The Audit Committee of the Group is responsible for
internal control matters relating to anti-corruption.

Community Investment

The Group supports community activities and engages in community
services and promote community development with a view to create a
harmonious community and to fulfill our responsibility as a corporate
citizen. As we know it is favorable for the Group’s business development
in a society with hope, love and care. The Group actively builds up a
corporate culture for loving and caring society by encouraging staff to
engage in voluntary service in community, bringing social activities into
our activities, which improves staff’'s belongingness and loyalty while
giving back to the community.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HERERERE ()

HKEX ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND P ORIR - HE8REIEIREES) Rl

GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE INDEX

Key performance
indicators (KPlIs) ESG Report
B 52 & B Z(KPI) (BRIR - HBREBRRE)

Section containing
disclosures Remarks

REEH i

A. Environmental
AR

Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA1: BB

General Disclosure
—MRIREE

Information on:

BRRER IR ERBHER - MKR
THEEES - BEREEZEEY
WEEZH

=

the policies; and

B - I

=

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.

(o) BITHBETAREAZENHBERLMRONER -

A1.1 The types of emissions and
respective emissions data

A1 BERRIR AR R AR R R EUR

A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions
in total
Al2 REREAHNE

A1.3 Total hazardous waste
produced
A13 FTEEREREEYEE

Environmental

RIS

Emissions

HER

Emissions

BER

Not applicable During the course of business,
TEA the Company did not produce
any chemical or medical-related
hazardous waste.
ARR RIS L E BRI E A A
(L2 ERBENEEERY -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiE - HEREREE ()

Key performance
indicators (KPls)
PR EMIEE(KPI)

ESG Report
(BE - HEREARRE)

Section containing
disclosures

REEEH

Remarks

ik

A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced
Al4 FMEEBREEEDRS

A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved
A1.5 FEIURIEHERE B e R T IS AR R

A1.6 Description of how hazardous and nonhazardous wastes are
handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved
A1.6 HElEEAEEREEREZEYN L  FIEEEENEHERIEHE

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEA2 : ERERA

General Disclosure

— R

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and
other raw materials.

BRERER(BIER - KREAMRMED K -

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type
A2 RRRIEI S ERE RS REE

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity
A22 BFEKEREE

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved
A2.3 IR A st &I RPTISARR

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit
for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved

A2.4 FEICKEUE KR B ERREE - A RIEA AR 8 RS
R

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products
A2.5 HEKmATABEMHNEE
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Not applicable
i A

Emissions

HER

Environmental

.

BB

Use of resources

BIRER

Use of resources

HIRE A

Use of resources

BREM

Use of resources
BREA

Not applicable
TEA

During the course of business, the
Company did not produce a large
amount of non-hazardous waste,
therefore, it did not include the
data of nonhazardous waste in the
calculation this time.
RRAREBLEBRTUBMEEAE
EERERY  RARRLAREIE
BEEREMZBBEMNAGEEER -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Key performance
indicators (KPls)
PR EMIEE(KPI)

ESG Report
(BE - HEREARRE)

BRI HERERERE ()

Section containing
disclosures

REEEH

Remarks

ik

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
BHEA3 : BERXAER

General Disclosure
— MR

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment
and natural resources.
BARBEITALHRERRAERENERZENBR ©

A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them

A31 ML EBRHHRERRABRRNERZERDHRREEERTEN
78

Aspect B1: Employment
EEB1 : £

General Disclosure

—RREE

Information on:
BREN R E - BERE - TIERS - BE - T5#Ke - 2k -
[RIEAR LA 2 B A 538 AR &Y

(@)  the policies; and
(&) BUE: &

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, antidiscrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.

(o) BEBTFTHETABEAXENHEBERRRONER -

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

[EEB2: REHEZE

General Disclosure
— MR

Information on:
FHEREHZ2TERERREEERABEELEN -

=

the policies; and
B R

=

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards.

(o) BEFHETARBERTENEWEZRAIINER -

Environmental

B

Use of resources

BREM

Employment

[

Health and safety
RRETS
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiE - HEREREE ()

Key performance Section containing
indicators (KPlIs) ESG Report disclosures
R ERUEZE(KPI) (BE - HEREARRE) WEEH

Remarks

ik

Aspect B3: Development and Training
EEBS3 : #EREI

General Disclosure Development and training
— IR R R

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training activities.

BRIRTHE BIRTT TR A A AN R R RE MR » BB NG -

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EEB4 : 8 T%#H|

General Disclosure Labour standards
— R 5% TR

Information on:

BRADT L E T keaH S TH)

(@)  the policies; and
() BEE: &

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.

(o) EITHBRTAGEATENRBERNROIWER -

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EEBS5 : REEERE

General Disclosure Supply chain management
— MR EE s EIE

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.
ERHERENREREERREEK -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Key performance
indicators (KPls)
PR EMIEE(KPI)

ESG Report
(BE - HEREARRE)

BRI HERERERE ()

Section containing
disclosures Remarks

REEEH fEEE

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EEB6 : EmEE

General Disclosure
— MR

Information on:
BEMREERMRBNEEREEZS  BE  SREILBEIFAR
HRTEN

)

the policies; and
B R

=

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress.

(o) BIFHETAFERTENHBWERNARINER -

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
EEB7 : RES

General Disclosure

— R E

Information on:

ERAPTLLARES - = - BGERILARE ¢

=

the policies; and

(@ EE: R

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.
(o) ETHERTAGEATENEBERNROINWER -

Aspect B8: Community Investment
[BEB8 : HEBRE

General Disclosure
—MR IR

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the

communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take

into consideration the communities’ interests.

FRUMR2ERTHEEMEHEFZMEREER LD EE BRI 0

HIBR -

Product responsibility
EmEE

Product responsibility
EmEE

Anti-corruption
k&5

Community investment
HERE
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Directors’ Report
EREERE

The Directors submit their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in (i) property leasing; (ii) provision of software
development and related services in relation to Fintech and Linux-based
systems and others; and (iii) trading business. The activities of the subsidiaries
are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT REPORTING

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year is set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 and
the financial position of the Group at that date are set out on pages 41 to 43.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.
RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 46 and in
note 24(d) to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2020, the Company had no distributable reserves.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Movements in property, plant and equipment and investment properties during
the year are set out in note 14 and note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for the pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on pages 122 to 123.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year. Neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or sold any of the
Company’s listed securities during the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong (Chief Executive Officer and Chairman)
Ms. Yang Hui Ling

Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen

Ms. Wu Chiao Ru

Ms. Hsieh Ju Lin

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chu Meng Chi

Ms. Chan Mei Sze

Ms. Lin Yan Jenny (resigned on 25 July 2019)

Ms. Chen Yun Jung (appointed on 22 October 2019)

In accordance with article 116 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong, Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen, Ms. Wu Chiao Ru and Ms. Chen
Yun Jung shall retire from the Board by rotation and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Apart from the transactions as disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements, no other contracts of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.
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Directors’ Report (Continued])

5%

Eﬂ:(mﬁ)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
IN SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2020, the interests or short positions of the Directors and

Chief Executives in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the

Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV

of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), Chapter 571 under the Laws

of Hong Kong), which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange

pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or

short positions which they have taken or deemed to have taken under such

provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the

SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,

pursuant to Rule 5.61 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company

and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

(a)

(b)

Long positions in ordinary shares and underlying shares of
the Company

ESEREIBITHRAENRRATES Cia

MR-ZB-ZF=ZF=+—H FESLITBETHABRAER
RISk H AR EE (EEREBEFFESTIEESF RPERK
Bl ([ % K EAERGI]) EXVER) 2 R 15 *Efﬁﬂxfﬁw,ﬁ%
BREMIREES RBEERAEXVIET RS BEME AR

REZ iz ms e (RIEREES KBS KRIEH lﬂrfﬁz
LEWEESIEBEEZREFIER) - NIRBEES KIS KA
EI52FBERNZGEX iz EmMzEmkEs R
BGEM E R BIE5.6 1 IKEME AR A A R B A F 2 s
BT :

(a) KR TEBBREBEARNDZER

Total number of Percentage of

Name of Directors shares held shareholding
EspR FRERGHE RO BE ML
Ms. Hsieh Ju Lin 9,850,000 3.51%
Hanre i+

Mr. Wong Hoi Wong (“Mr. Wong”) (Note) 1,608,600 0.54%

FslRrE(ERED W)

Note: These 1,508,600 shares are registered in name of Eaglemax International
Investment Limited. As at 31 March 2020, Mr. Wong held the entire issued
share capital of Eaglemax International Investment Limited. By virtue of SFO,
Mr. Wong has interest of such shares.

Short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors had
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of equity derivatives of
the Company.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors
had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they are
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to Rule 5.61
of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2020, the following persons (not being the Directors and Chief
Executives of the Company) had interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO as follows:

Directors’ Report (Continued)

EEEHRE (B

FERRER

MNEIZ-ZF=A=+—R BEEBHFRPERIEXVEE
2R3N BB AT HEF R EIRPIEIBCIHEREBRFELZ
BRMAREZARBRD BERDRES 2 ERRER
ZATCGEARBREERIETRARMT

Approximate

Number of percentage of

Name of shareholder shares held issued share capital

8 HEBTRAZ

REEHE RHEE BHABEIL

Ms. Wang Ying Fang 54,009,090 19.24%
Wang Ying FangzZ +

Extra Bright Trading Limited (Note 7 #17%1) 46,279,750 16.48%

Note :

1. Extra Bright Trading Limited is owned as to 49% and 51% by Yarn Shouu Bair and
Advanced Enterprises Limited respectively. Advanced Enterprises Limited is wholly
owned by Chang Wei Min. Chang Wei Min and Yarn Shouu Bair are deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by Extra Bright Trading Limited under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, there was no person (not
being the Directors and Chief Executives of the Company) who had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336
of the SFO.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the percentage of purchase attributable to the five largest
suppliers in aggregate is less than 10%.

The sales to the five largest customers of the Group accounted for
approximately 55% of the total sales for the year and the sales to the largest
customer included therein accounted for approximately 19%.

Save as disclosed below, none of the Directors, their respective associates
and shareholders of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors
own more than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company) had any
interest in any of the five largest customers and suppliers of the Group for the
year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of connected transactions under the GEM Listing Rules during the year
are set out in notes 28(a) and (b) to the consolidated financial statements.

Hrat -

1. Extra Bright Trading LimiteddiYarn Shouu Bair 2 Advanced
Enterprises LimitedD Bl #H49% &% 51% ° Advanced
Enterprises LimitedfiChang Wei Min2&# A& - RIEZEE N
HAE &I - Chang Wei Min&Yarn Shouu Bairifi 18 & Extra
Bright Trading Limited+5 A KT B (H R #E B i o

BREXEBEEN R_T_FF_A=1+—R0 HELAHA
TOFRRBAEEREIRTRAR) HHEFREFRDIEXV
#BE2 N30 Bh R SCIA T 378 77 e i B 1R 0] 3£ 336 1R AR TE A7
BEZELMATRE 2 ARBRD - MR RESF 2

BE -

DEFKRMED

FR - AAREREREOE D L REDI10%

AEBERRAREFNHEEMFEHERENE%  MEAR
PHRSHERIMEA19% -

BTSN BEEMA - BEAREDHITRASRIA L
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Directors’ Report (Continued])
EEgHRE(E)

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors, the substantial shareholders or the management
shareholders (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any interests in any
business which competed with or might compete with the business of the
Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year
ended 31 March 2020.

CORPORATE STRATEGY

The Group’s strategy is to generate stable income through property investment
and software business. Our corporate values rest in growing the presence
of our existing businesses and identifying new business and investment
opportunities not limited to our current businesses in order to deliver value
to both our customers and our shareholders. All such opportunities will
continue to be diligently and carefully evaluated by the Board with the view
of delivering value to our shareholders. We believe implementing disciplined
business strategies and prudent financial management serves this purpose by
preserving the longevity and sustainability of our businesses.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee with written terms of reference
in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The duties of the Audit Committee
are to review and to provide supervision over the financial reporting process
and internal control system of the Group. The Audit Committee comprises
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Chen Yun Jung, Mr.
Chu Meng Chi and Ms. Chan Mei Sze.

During the year, the Audit Committee has met four times to review the results
of the Group.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been audited by
BDO Limited.

BDO Limited retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting of the Company to
re-appoint Messrs. BDO Limited as auditor of the Company.

By Order of the Board

Wong Hoi Wong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2020
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THIZ TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
(BN RIS B AR A )

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Thiz Technology
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”)
set out on pages 41 to 121, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2020, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the “Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Recognition of revenue from Fintech related software
development and provision of related services

Refer to note 6(a) and note 32 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policy on recognition of revenue from software development and
provision of related services as shown in note 4(0).

The Group’s major revenue for the year ended 31 March 2020 includes
revenue generated from software development and provision of related
services of HK$7,726,000. The contracts typically are fixed price contracts
comprising sales of customised software or applications and/or provision of
related post contract support services.

Independent Auditor’'s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BB ()

Revenue from Fintech related software development and provision of related
services accounted for about 44% of the Group’s revenue for the year ended
31 March 2020 and together with the reasons below, was identified as a key
audit matter.

e the manual processes and controls for recording contracts; and

e the significant judgements and estimates made by management in
determining:

()  whether contracts contain elements which should be separated for
revenue recognition purposes;

(i)  whether the contract prices of individual elements as stated in
contracts represent their respective stand-alone selling prices and
where appropriate estimating of stand-alone selling prices based on
appropriate techniques; and

(i) whether the revenue should be recognised at a point in time or over
time.

A change in an estimate or judgement made in the revenue recognition could
result in a significant change in the amount of revenue recognised in one or
more reporting periods.

Our Response

Our procedures in relation to recognition of revenue from Fintech related
software development and provision of related services included:

e  Obtaining our understanding of the systems, processes and controls for
recording and recognition of revenue;

e  Obtaining all contracts to understand the terms and conditions of each
contract and to determine whether the revenue had been recognised in
accordance with the Group’s revenue recognition policy;

o For each contract, evaluating the judgements and estimates made by
management in applying the Group’s revenue recognition policy, including
identification of separable elements of contracts and estimation of stand-
alone selling prices of each elements;

e  Obtaining confirmations from selected customers about their acceptance
of the customised software which provided evidence of the control of the

customised software passed to the customers; and

o Re-performing the calculation of revenue from provision of related post
contract support services recognised on a straight-line basis.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)

Valuation of investment properties

Refer to note 15 and note 32 to the consolidated financial statements and
the accounting policy on investment properties as shown in note 4(d) to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s investment properties were carried at fair value of HK$71,506,000
as at 31 March 2020 which was based on valuations performed by an
independent firm of professional valuers.

Investment properties were significant to the consolidated financial statements
representing about 70% of the total assets of the Group as at 31 March 2020,
and together with the reasons below, was identified as a key audit matter.

The valuation of investment properties requires significant judgement and
estimation in determining the appropriate valuation methodology to be used
and in estimating the underlying assumptions to be applied. There is a risk
that the carrying amount of investment properties may be materially misstated
if the valuation methodology adopted and the key assumptions applied by the
valuers are inappropriate. A change to these inputs may result in changes in
fair value of the Group’s investment properties and corresponding amount of
fair value gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.

Our Response

Our procedures in relation to valuation of investment properties included:

o Evaluating the objectivity, independence and expertise of the external
valuers;

e Assessing the methodology used and the appropriateness of the key
assumptions applied based on our knowledge of the property industry;

o Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and relevance of the inputs
data used; and

e Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures made in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of the valuation of investment properties
including the relationship between the key unobservable input and fair
value.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”)
assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BB ()

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wong Chi Wai
Practising Certificate Number: P04945

Hong Kong, 26 June 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GeEZkHEMEEWER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #E—Z-TF=-A=-+—HIFE

2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
Notes HK$°000 HK$ 000
M FET FET
Revenue WA 5 17,735 17,112
Cost of sales and services $HE KRS A (3,649) (14,488)
Gross profit EF 14,086 2,624
Other revenue and gains/(losses), net Hig A iz, (B518) @ J$58 5 871 (2,673)
General and administrative expenses —MRITHER (9,756) (13,229)
Finance costs BhE R AR 7 (1,471) (30)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRELADEF (E518) 8 3,730 (13,308)
Taxation fiE 11(a) (472) 321
Profit/(loss) for the year REERA (B 3,258 (12,987)
Other comprehensive income Hib2E K=
ltem that may be subsequently re-classified HEgnEHoBsEamiEs
to profit or loss:
Currency translation differences B E =R (4,123) (3,813)
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEEXEKRHALEE (865) (16,800)
Profit/(loss) attributable to: BT EAEER, (B18) -
- Owners of the Company —RDRER A 3,258 (12,960)
- Non-controlling interest e - (27)
3,258 (12,987)
Total comprehensive income for the year UTEGAEAEEZHNSAE
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company —ARREER A (865) (16,773)
- Non-controlling interest — IR - (27)
(865) (16,800)
Earnings/(loss) per share: BRERN (BE) :
- Basic and diluted (in cents) —EAR R (L) 13 1.16 (4.66)

BERHAEEAR AR 2019/20F 1 e



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

M IBRIR

At 31 March 2020 R-Z_ZTF=AF=+—H

2020 2019
—EoEF —E-hF
Notes HK$°000 HK$ 000
M FET FET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEREE 14 569 196
Investment properties AW 15 71,506 46,685
72,075 46,881
Current assets REBEE
Contract assets BHEE 16 289 440
Trade and other receivables, deposits and R R HMmEWRIE - He Rk
prepayments JE RIE 17 2,757 2,002
Time deposit with maturity over 3 months FERBBE=EA ZEBFX 18 1,422 -
Bank balances and cash WITHEEFELIRS 18 24,874 29,530
Current tax recoverable =i EIEEI T 338 337
29,680 32,309
Current liabilities REBEE
Rental receipts in advance WS 310 539
Trade and other payables, deposits received and  JE{< [z E fth &4~ 71 IE
accruals B Wiz e M BT IE 19 3,492 5,460
Contract liabilities aHAaE 20 2,048 2,663
Lease liabilities HEAaR 27 3,978 -
Amount due to a shareholder FERTAR R FRIE 21 486 486
Current tax liabilities EHENIEAR 209 170
10,523 9,318
Net current assets RBEEEE 19,157 22,991
Total assets less current liabilities REERRBEE 91,232 69,872
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEAaR 27 12,403 -
Deferred tax liabilities BIEFRIBAE 11(b) 6,335 3,898
18,738 3,898
Net assets EEFE 72,494 65,974
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

mEMBHRRR (&)

At 31 March 2020 R-Z_ZTF=A=+—H

2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M FET FET

EQUITY Em
Share capital IR 22 280,750 280,750
Reserves e (208,225) (214,745)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company &2 F#HE ABEER 72,525 66,005
Non-controlling interest RS (31) (31)
Total equity A 72,494 65,974

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2020 and are signed on its behalf
by:

WONG HOI WONG
EFalg
Director

BE

BHEEAMBREN T TFAATRALESSIAE
NERETIE - YR TIIEERREE

YANG HUI LING
BE&
Director

BE
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

-%;JH' fﬁ%umi%

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZE—_Z-TF=-A=-+—HILFE

2020 2019
—BCEF T—hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 Fix FAT
Cash flows from operating activities REEBCHRESRE
Profit/(loss) before taxation KRB AR A (8518) 3,730 (13,308)
Adjustments for: FEE
Fair value loss on investment properties WEMEZ ATEEBRE 15 445 2,923
Impairment losses on financial assets at REER AT EN S REER
amortised cost HEE 8 - 34
Interest income FLEWA 5 (68) (134)
Interest expenses FEHZ 7 1,471 30
Depreciation e 8 401 47
Operating cash flows before working EEEBHAICRERERE
capital changes 5,979 (10,408)
Increase in trade and other receivables, FEMUR H b FEURIE - 2 & TR
deposits and prepayments H?A’Iﬁibﬂ (755) (389)
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets BHEERD (8N 151 (448)
(Decrease)/increase in rental receipts in advance  JEWHA 4 CAi4) /A0 (229) 361
(Decrease)/increase in trade and FER R E b EARIE - B MRS
other payables, deposits received and accruals RFERHFRIB R A) /180 (1,968) 3,368
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities AHEECRD )/i"jJD (615) 2,557
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes INHSTE R B 2 5 (734) (588)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations reEEs/ (FABRS 1,829 (5,547)
Interest received BEHFE 68 134
Interest element of lease liabilities paid BEHMEEaE R EBN 30(b) (1,471) -
Interest paid BFE 30(b) - (1,495)
Income taxes paid EATATISEL (36) (997)
Net cash generated from/(used in) REEREL (iR BESFE
operating activities 390 (7,905)
Cash flows from investing activities RETEZHEESRE
Placement of time deposit with maturity over 3 ZIHFERBE3E A 2 T HER
months (1,422) -
Payments to acquire property, NEBWE - BERZRE IR
plant and equipment (79) (199)
Net cash used in investing activities REZBDFFARSFE (1,501) (199)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
GeRERE%k ()

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #E—Z-TF=-A=-+—HIFE

2020 2019
—BCEF —E-NF
Notes HK$°000 HK$ 000
M FET FET
Cash flows from financing activities RETE2RLSRE
Capital element of lease liabilities paid ERBHEREZEARIBG 30(b) (3,545) =
Repayment of principal portion of amount HEENEEzAS
due to a director 30(b) - (1,269)
Expenses incurred on issue of shares BEITRMEEZRAX 24(d) - (100)
Net cash used in financing activities BETEMAZRESTE (3,545) (1,369)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RERBELSEEERDFHE (4,656) (9,473)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning RENzRERESSEEB
of year 29,530 39,003
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year RERZRERREESEEER 18 24,874 29,530

Details of the major non-cash transactions during the year are set out in note RERMEZIIFR X FHBERLRE M BHREME30(C)
30(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

BERHAEEAR AR 2019/20F 1 e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL

Thiz Technology Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as an
exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law (Cap.22 Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands on 6 December 2000. The address of its registered
office and principal place of business are Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and Unit 810,
8/F, Tower B, Hunghom Commercial Centre, 37 Ma Tau Wai Road, To
Kwa Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong, respectively.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Growth Enterprise Market
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM”).

The Group is principally engaged in (i) property leasing; (ii) provision of
software development and related services in relation to Fintech and
Linux-based systems and others; and (iii) trading business. The principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective 1 April
2019

During the year, the Group has adopted a number of new/revised
HKFRSs that are relevant to its operations and effective for the
current accounting period.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features and Negative
Compensation

Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 3 and

HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle HKAS 12

The adoption of the above new/revised HKFRSs except for HKFRS
16 has no material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
The impacts of adoption of HKFRS 16 are set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements [

e RERME (8)

31 March 2020

—E-TF=A=+—AH

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective 1 April
2019 (Continued)

HKFRS 16 - Leases (“HKFRS 16”)

U

Impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16

HKFRS 16 brings significant changes in accounting treatment
for lease accounting, primarily for accounting for lessees.
It replaces HKAS 17 Leases (“HKAS 17”), HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases-Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal
Form of a Lease. From a lessee’s perspective, almost all leases
are recognised in the statement of financial position as right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities, with the narrow exception
to this principle for leases which the underlying assets are
of low-value or are determined as short-term leases. From a
lessor’s perspective, the accounting treatment is substantially
unchanged from HKAS 17. The details of HKFRS 16 regarding
its new definition of a lease, its impact on the Group’s
accounting policies and the transition method adopted by the
Group as allowed under HKFRS 16, are set out in sections (i) to
(v) of this note.

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 using the cumulative effect
approach and recognised all the cumulative effect of initially
applying HKFRS 16, as an adjustment to the opening balance
of accumulated losses at the date of initial application. The
comparative information presented in 2019 has not been
restated and continues to be reported under HKAS 17 and
related interpretations as allowed by the transition provision in
HKFRS 16.

The financial impacts on the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out below.

@ Thiz Technology Group Limited ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued) all) (8)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective 1 April

2019 (Continued)

HKFRS 16 - Leases (“HKFRS 16”) (Continued)

()

Impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e M RERME (R)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=A=+—H

2. MIMSEMBRSER ([SBMBREE
(a) WEHET EIESEUBREER -5 F
—hENB—BRER (#)

BEBHBREERFE165 - HE ([EEHBRE
ERIFE16%]) ()

() [EREERHFHEERF 16507 ()

Line items of the consolidated statement of financial position as RZZE-—NFHNA—BNEGEEUBIKAKRE
at 1 April 2019. B -
HK$'000
FATT
Assets BE
Right-of-use assets presented in property, plant and 2HRME  BERXBZERAEEE
equipment (Note 14) (B&E14) 7
Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment HERENETR I GEREAE
property (Note 15) (Bi&E15) 24,556
Increase in total assets B E BRI 25,333
Liabilities =R
Recognition of lease liabilities (non-current) (Note 27(a)) HREEAEGERE) (F27() 12,519
Recognition of lease liabilities (current) (Note 27(a)) HREEAERE) (WiE27() 2,968
15,487
Recognition of deferred tax liabilities (Note 11(b)) WRECHESE FIE11(0) 2,461
Increase in total liabilities BEREE M 17,948
Decrease in accumulated losses 2B ERD 7,385
Line items of consolidated statement of profit or loss HE_Z-Z=A=+—-RHIEFENGEEE
for the year ended 31 March 2020. mKIAEE
HK$’000
FAIT
Decrease in operating lease charges wEHEBRR D 5,016
Increase in fair value loss (Note 27(b)) A FEEEE (27 (0) (445)
Increase in depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 27(b))  {f FI#E & E T E I (5127 (b)) (345)
Increase in interest on lease liabilities (Note 27(b)) e EF 2 mETEE27(0) (1,471)
Increase in profit before taxation B 50 BT V42 3 2,755

RIS RHASEAR AR 2019/20F 3k @
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e RERME (8)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=-A=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective 1 April

2019 (Continued)

HKFRS 16 - Leases (“HKFRS 16”) (Continued)

(i) Impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

Line items of the consolidated statement of cash flows for the HEZ

year ended 31 March 2020.

2. S BUMFRSEL ([SBMIFRSE
EIJJ ) (mE )

(a) HREFAET RIESTSBHBREEN-B8-F
—NFNR—-BELEW (8

BEBUBHEERE16%, —HE ([FEEUBHE
EHE165 ) (F)

() [EREEHFHEERE 16507 E ()

ZA=+—HILEFENEE
ﬁméiﬁa°

HK$’000
FHETT
Increase in net cash generated from REEEEERSFEEM
operating activities
- Decrease in operating lease charges —EEHEERRD 5,016
Increase in net cash used in financing activities RVESEE AT AR SRR M
— Payments of capital element of lease liabilities —YNHEEABZERTD (3,545)
— Payments of interest element of lease liabilities —YNHEEAGBZAEHD (1,471)
(5,016)

The following reconciliation explains how the operating lease
commitments disclosed applying HKAS 17 at the end of 31
March 2019 could be reconciled to the lease liabilities at
the date of initial application recognised in the consolidated

LTHEMIN -"T—AF=A=+—8

%%%m%%@ﬁﬁw%wﬁﬁﬁzm%ﬂ
EREER_ZT-NFNA-—AZEEHE
RARFERRNBERAHCREEEZ

statement of financial position as at 1 April 2019: HIRIBEN
HK$'000
FET

Reconciliation of operating lease commitments to AL EREHHE R EZHE

lease liabilities

Operating lease commitments as of 31 March 2019 HE-T-NWF=A=+—HzZ

TR ERE 18,944
Less: short term leases for which lease terms end within B RZEEF=A=+—HA

31 March 2020 JEmE e S (114)
Less: future interest expenses T ARIRF B X (3,343)
Total lease liabilities as of 1 April 2019 HE-_ZT-NEFNA—RAZHEAER 15,487

—NEFWA— A Z&EE MR RE

The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
RZEEBERMAZ METFHEBARER
EHMER8.5% °

applied to lease liabilities recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 1 April 2019 is 8.5%.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective 1 April
2019 (Continued)

HKFRS 16 - Leases (“HKFRS 16”) (Continued)

(i)

The new definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a lease is defined as a contract, or part of a
contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying
asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration. A
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time when the customer, throughout the
period of use, has both: (a) the right to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset and (b)
the right to direct the use of the identified asset.

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, a lessee
shall allocate the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components, unless the lessee applies the
practical expedient which allows the lessee to elect, by class
of underlying asset, not to separate non-lease components
from lease components, and instead account for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e M EREME (8)

31 March 2020

—E-_THE=A=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective 1 April
2019 (Continued)

HKFRS 16 - Leases (“HKFRS 16”) (Continued)

(iii) - Accounting as a lessee

Under HKAS 17, a lessee has to classify a lease as an operating
lease or a finance lease based on the extent to which risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of a lease asset lie with the
lessor or the lessee. If a lease is determined as an operating
lease, the lessee would recognise the lease payments under the
operating lease as an expense over the lease term. The asset
under the lease would not be recognised in the statement of
financial position of the lessee.

Under HKFRS 16, all leases (irrespective of they are operating
leases or finance leases) are required to be capitalised in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, but HKFRS 16 provides accounting policy choices
for an entity to choose not to capitalise leases which are short-
term leases. The Group has elected not to recognise right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases for which at the
commencement date have a lease term less than 12 months.
The lease payments associated with those leases, if any, are
expensed on straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group recognised a right-of-use asset and a lease liability
at the commencement date of a lease.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and would
comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability (see below for the accounting policy to account for
lease liability); (i) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any
initial direct costs incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate of
costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories. The Group measures the right-to-use at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability.

The right-of-use asset is amortised over the lease term on a
straight-line basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R e M REMEE (E)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=A=+—H
2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. NS BUIBREEA([BBMHEHRSE

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued) all) (8)

(a) HREFAET RIESTSBHBREEN-B8-F
—NFNR—BEEWR (&

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective 1 April
2019 (Continued)

BEBHBREERFEI65 - HE ([EEHBRE
EHE165 ) (F)

HKFRS 16 - Leases (“HKFRS 16”) (Continued)

(ii) TEREFANZ Bt EHE (&

(iii) - Accounting as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liability

The lease liability should be recognised at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments shall be
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that
rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group shall use the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the underlying asset
during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement
date of the lease are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed
payments less any lease incentives receivable: (i) variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at commencement date; (i) amounts
expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option and (v)
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, a lessee shall measure
the lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect
interest on the lease liability; (i) reducing the carrying amount
to reflect the lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring
the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease
modifications, e.g., a change in future lease payments arising
from change in an index or rate, a change in the lease term, a
change in the in substance fixed lease payments or a change in
assessment to purchase the underlying asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements [

e RERME (8)

31 March 2020

—E-TF=A=+—AH

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective 1 April
2019 (Continued)

HKFRS 16 - Leases (“HKFRS 16”) (Continued)

(iv) Accounting as a lessor

v)

The accounting policies applicable to the Group as a lessor are
not different from those under HKAS 17. However, when the
Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases are classified
with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease, not with reference to the underlying asset.

At the date of initial application, leased properties held for
sub-leases were assessed whether the sub-leases should be
classified as an operating lease or a finance lease individually
based on the remaining contractual terms and conditions
of the head lease and the sub-lease at that date. As the
Group’s sub-leases are classified as operating lease, the
related right-of-use assets recognised from the head leases
are classified as investment properties, and measured at fair
value of HK$24,556,000 at 1 April 2019 and the corresponding
lease liabilities of HK$14,710,000 from the head leases are
recognised based on the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rates at
1 April 2019, the difference of HK$7,385,000 (net of deferred
tax liabilities of HK$2,461,000) is recognised in accumulated
losses on transition to HKFRS 16.

Transition

As mentioned above, the Group has applied HKFRS 16
using the cumulative effect approach and recognised all
the cumulative effect of initially applying HKFRS 16, as an
adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated losses at
the date of initial application (1 April 2019). The comparative
information presented in 2019 has not been restated and
continues to be reported under HKAS 17 and related
interpretations as allowed by the transition provision in HKFRS
16.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective 1 April
2019 (Continued)

HKFRS 16 - Leases (“HKFRS 16”) (Continued)

)

Transition (Continued)

The Group has recognised the lease liabilities at the date of 1
April 2019 for leases previously classified as operating leases
applying HKAS 17 and measured those lease liabilities at the
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted
using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at 1 April 2019.

The Group has elected to recognise all the right-of-use assets
at 1 April 2019 for leases previously classified operating leases
under HKAS 17 at an amount equal to the lease liabilities
adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the lease recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at 1 April 2019. For all these
right-of-use assets other than those meet the definition of
investment properties, the Group has relied on the previous
assessment for onerous contract provisions as at 31 March
2019 as an alternative to performing an impairment review at 1
April 2019. For those right-of-use assets that meet the definition
of investment properties, they are measured at fair value at
the date of 1 April 2019 for leases previously accounted for as
operating leases applying HKAS 17 and are accounted for as
investment properties carried at fair value from that date.

In addition, the Group has also applied the practical expedients
such that: () HKFRS 16 is applied to all of the Group’s lease
contracts that were previously identified as leases applying
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease and (i) not to apply HKFRS 16
to contracts that were not previously identified as containing a
lease under HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements [

e RERME (8)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=-A=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the
Group’s financial statements, have been issued, but are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted by the Group. The
Group’s current intention is to apply these changes on the date they
become effective.
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RN S B IRSER ([ SBMIFRSHE
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(b) EREHBEARERGFETRESTSEBHHER

xER

LA B ARARE R AR M AN SR B0 R IR PRI 2 37
BRI EBMBRE LA RARE 2 R
SRR ARM - AEEE AN ZSERERA
HERZEEE -

Effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after

RUT RS2 &K ZETHBEENR

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of Business

BB BRELANESROER - EBZTER
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of Material

EB SRR FE IR BB GEAESRNER] - EAZER
Amendments to HKFRS 16, COVID-19 - Related Rental Concession
BB E LR FE165RHERT - EBCOVID-19HH A ER

Amendments to HKFRS 3 - Definition of a business

The amendments clarify that a business must include, as a minimum,
an input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs, together with providing
extensive guidance on what is meant by a “substantive process”.

Additionally, the amendments remove the assessment of whether
market participants are capable of replacing any missing inputs
or processes and continuing to produce outputs, whilst narrowing
the definition of “outputs” and a “business” to focus on returns
from selling goods and services to customers, rather than on cost
reductions. An optional concentration test has also been added
that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business.

The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of Material

The amendments clarify the definition and explanation of “material”,
aligning the definition across all HKFRS Standards and the
Conceptual Framework, and incorporating supporting requirements
in HKAS 1 into the definition.

The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 - COVID-19 - Related Rental
Concession

Amendment clarify a lessee may elect not to assess whether a rent
concession that meets certain conditions is a lease modification. A
lessee that makes this election shall account for any change in lease
payments resulting from the rent concession the same way it would
account for the change applying HKFRS 16 if the change were not a
lease modification. The rent concession could be recognised in profit
or loss as variable lease payments applying paragraph 38 of HKFRS
16. It could also be accounted for as a reassessment of the lease
liability.

The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
IREMIEREME (E)

31 March 2020

—E-_THE=A=+—H

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “HKFRS”) and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM (“GEM Listing
Rules”).

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified for investment properties,
which are carried at fair value, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Functional and presentation currency

The individual financial statements of each group entity are presented
in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (“functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) which is the
functional currency of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. Inter-company
transactions and balances between group companies together with
unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment on the asset transferred,
in which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the
effective dates of acquisition or up to the effective dates of disposal,
as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those
used by other members of the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using the
acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred,
liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the Group, as the
acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
are principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or losses are
recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a transaction-
by-transaction basis, to measure the non-controlling interest either at
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements [Continued]
IREMIEREME (E)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=-A=+—H

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. BB EFHUR (8)

(Continued)

(a) EHEHRGEEE(E)

(a) Business combination and basis of consolidation

(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s interest and the non-controlling
interest are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests
in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any
non-controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted
for in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or
liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling
interest is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the
non-controlling interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity.
Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit
balance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Subsidiaries

(c)

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to
exercise control. The Company controls an investee if all three of the
following elements are present: power over the investee, exposure,
or rights, to variable returns from the investee, and the ability to
use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is reassessed
whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a
change in any of these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment loss. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment loss.

Historical cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its present
working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure
incurred after the asset has been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance and overhaul costs, is charged to the profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where it is
probable that future economic benefits of the expenditure will flow
to the entity, and the cost of which can be measured reliably, the
expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of the asset or a
separate asset.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The useful lives are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. The principal annual
rates are as follows:

33%

14% - 33%

14% - 20%

20%

over the shorter of the assets’

Computer equipment

Office equipment

Furniture and fixtures

Motor vehicles

Properties leased for own use
as right-of-use assets useful life and lease term

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item

of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference

between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset

and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements [Continued]
IREMIEREME (E)

31 March 2020

—E-TF=A=+—AH

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Investment properties

Investment property is property held either to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation or for both, but not held for sale in the ordinary
course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. Investment property is
measured at cost on initial recognition and subsequently at fair value

with any change therein recognised in profit or loss.

Effective 1 April 2019, investment properties also include leased
properties which are being recognised as right-of-use assets upon
application of HKFRS 16 and sub-leased by the Group under
operating leases.

Leasing

Accounting policies applied from 1 April 2019

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or finance leases)
are required to be capitalised in the statement of financial position as
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices
exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise leases which are short-
term leases. The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for leases for which at the commencement
date have a lease term no more than 12 months. The lease
payments associated with those leases are expensed on straight-line
basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 March 2020 —Z=ZFF=-A=+—H

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, SEEFHBUER(58)
(Continued)
(e) Leasing (Continued) (e) TAE (48)

Accounting policies applied from 1 April 2019 (Continued)

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and would
comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability (see below for the accounting policy to account for
lease liability); (i) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any
initial direct costs incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate of
costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories. Except for right-of-use asset that meets the definition of
an investment property or a class of property, plant and equipment
to which the Group applies the revaluation model, the Group
measures the right-of-use assets applying a cost model. Under the
cost model, the Group measures the right-to-use at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liability. Right-of-use assets are
generally depreciated over the shorter of the assets’ useful life and
the lease term (including the extension option period as appropriate)
on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase option (if any), the right-of-use asset is depreciated over
the underlying assets’ useful life.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at the date of commencement of the
lease. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the leasee’s
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the underlying asset
during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement date
of the lease are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments
less any lease incentives receivable: (i) variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at commencement date; (i) amounts expected to be payable
by the lessee under residual value guarantees; (iv) the exercise price
of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise
that option and (v) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to terminate
the lease.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, SEEFHBUER(58)
(Continued)
(e) Leasing (Continued) (e) TAE (48)

Accounting policies applied from 1 April 2019 (Continued)

Lease liability (Continued)

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures the
lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability; (i) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the
lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the carrying amount
to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications, e.g., a change
in future lease payments arising from change in an index or rate, a
change in the lease term, a change in the in substance fixed lease
payments or a change in assessment to purchase the underlying
asset.

Sub-lease as lessor

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head
lease and the sub-lease as two separate contracts. The sub-lease is
classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-
of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the
underlying asset.

Accounting policies applied until 31 March 2019

Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the Group are classified as operating leases.

The Group as a lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as
an expense on the straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as a lessee

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating leases,
payments made under the leases are charged to profit or loss in
equal instalments over the accounting periods covered by the lease
terms, except where an alternative basis is more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease
incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part
of the aggregate net lease payments made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, SEEFHBUER(58)
(Continued)
(f) Financial instruments (fl EmI8
(i)  Financial assets () =HEE

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a
significant financing component) is initially measured at fair
value plus, for an item not measured at FVPL, transaction costs
that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade
receivable without a significant financing component is initially
measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirely when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. The Group’s debt instruments
are classified as financial assets at amortised cost.

Financial assets including trade and other receivables, contract
assets, lease receivables, deposits paid, time deposit with
maturity over 3 months and bank balances and cash that are
held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised cost
are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate
method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)
(ii) Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECLs on trade
receivables, contract assets, lease receivables and other
financial assets measured at amortised cost (including other
receivables, deposits paid, time deposit with maturity over 3
months, bank balances and cash). The ECLs are measured on
either of the following bases: (1) 12 months ECLs: these are
the ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12
months after the reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECLs: these
are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. The maximum period
considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit
losses are measured as the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive. The shortfall is then discounted at an approximation to
the assets’ original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for trade
receivables, contract assets and lease receivables using HKFRS
9 simplified approach and has calculated ECLs based on
lifetime ECLs. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on the
12-months ECLs. However, when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will be
based on the lifetime ECLs.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, SEEFHBUER(58)
(Continued)
(f) Financial instruments (Continued) () ERITAE ()

(i) EBEERE ()

(ii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

When determining whether the credit risk of an other debt
financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information analysis, based on the Group’s historical
experience and informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.

The Group takes into account the following information when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition and assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past
due irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment.

e failure to make payments of principal or interest on their
contractually due dates;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial
instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if available);

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

e  existing or forecast changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation
to the Group.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, SEEFHBUER(58)
(Continued)
(f) Financial instruments (Continued) () ERITAE ()

(i) EBEERE ()

(ii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if () it has a low risk of default, (i) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term, and (iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil
its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a
debt instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal
or external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally
understood definitions.

Depending on the nature of the financial assets, the assessment
of a significant increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is
performed on a collective basis, the financial assets are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due
status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes
in the financial assets’ credit risk since initial recognition. Any
change in the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an impairment
gain or loss for all financial assets measured at amortised
cost with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-impaired
when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to
the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such
as realising security (if any is held); or (2) the financial asset is

more than 90 days past due.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, SEEFHBUER(58)
(Continued)
(f) Financial instruments (Continued) () ERITAE ()
(ii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) EBEERE ()

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the
following observable events:

e significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

e a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments;

o it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation; and

e significant changes in the technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have an adverse effect on the
debtor.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is calculated
based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount
less loss allowance) of the financial asset. For non credit-
impaired financial assets interest income is calculated based on
the gross carrying amount.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off
(either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written
off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in
the period in which the recovery occurs.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)
(iii) Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and other
payables, deposits received and accruals, lease liabilities and
amount due to a shareholder. They are initial measured at fair
value, net of directly attributable transaction cost incurred.
Subsequently, they are measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method. The related interest expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation
process.

(iv) Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through
the expected life of the financial asset or liability, or where
appropriate, a shorter period.

(v) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual
rights to the future cash flows in relation to the financial asset
expire or when the financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in accordance with
HKFRS 9.

(g) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and deposits held
at call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible
to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Provisions and contingent liabilities

(i)

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss or an impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or
may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to
which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount to the extent that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e M EREME (8)

31 March 2020
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

1))

Taxation

Taxation for the year comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities
adjusted for items that are non-assessable or disallowable for income
tax purposes and is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for tax
purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates expected to apply in the period when
the liability is settled or the asset is realised based on tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting
period.

Deferred tax liabilities arising from initial recognition of assets and
liabilities in a transaction which is not a business combination and
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting profit nor
taxable profits are not recognised.

An exception to the general requirement on determining the
appropriate tax rate used in measuring deferred tax amount is
when an investment property is carried at fair value under HKAS
40 “Investment Property”. Unless the presumption is rebutted, the
deferred tax amounts on these investment properties are measured
using the tax rates that would apply on sale of these investment
properties at their carrying amounts at the reporting date. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all the economic benefits embodied in the property over
time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Foreign currencies

U]

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities,
foreign currency transactions are translated into individual entity’s
functional currency at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at the end of reporting period. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are included in profit or
loss.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations
(including comparatives) are expressed in Hong Kong dollars using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of reporting period. Income
and expenses items (including comparatives) are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the year, in which case the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in translation reserve. Such translation differences, to the extent
attributable to the owners of the Company, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period when the foreign operations are disposed of.

Employees’ benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than
termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly
before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the related service. Short
term employee benefits are recognised in the year when the
employees render the related service.

(ii) Defined contribution retirement plans
The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution retirement

scheme are expensed as incurred when the services are
rendered by the employees.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, SEEFHBUER(58)
(Continued)
(1) Employees’ benefits (Continued) N EEaRH (8
(iiij) Termination benefits (iii) AR5 F

Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.

AR AR AR B T RE D 7% S5 48 B A e
AER (B TR B AR AR A e 32 A 4% LB AR B LA
REAHRERR -

(m) Borrowing costs (m) BFRRAR
Borrowing costs attributable directly to the acquisition, construction BMINEEIR  EEIRIFRNHHEEESAIERTE
or production of qualifying assets which require a substantial period AR EE A EAREEARMABZEBRKAE - 15
of time to be ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised SRIERSEERA 2 —55 - BEFARZEE
as part of the cost of those assets. Income earned on temporary EZEEERERBPIRE MBI KA REBEKX
investments of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on REVEFRBAHIRR o FrA e R AN G R E A
those assets is deducted from borrowing costs capitalised. All other REBZATER o

borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

(n) Related parties (n) BREAEAL

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to (@)
the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of key management personnel of the Group.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b)
conditions apply:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit

of the employees of the Group or an entity related to the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n) Related parties (Continued)

(o)

(b) (Continued)

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic
partner.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value
added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to
the contract, control of the goods or service may be transferred
over time or at a point in time. Control of the goods or service is
transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

o creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or

e does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements [Egntinued]
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. BB EFHUR (8)

(Continued)

(o) Revenue recognition (Continued)

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the goods or service.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods
or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue
is measured at the present value of the amounts receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing benefit to the
Group, revenue recognised under that contract includes the interest
expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For contracts where the period between the payment and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less,
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

Contract liability

It represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to
a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an
amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

Contract asset

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods and services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Contracts with multiple performance obligations including
allocation of transaction price

For contracts or more than one contract made with the same
customer around the same time that contain more than one
performance obligations, the Group allocates the transaction price to
each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at contract
inception. It represents the price at which the Group would sell a
promised good or service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone
selling price is not directly observable, the Group estimates it using
appropriate techniques such that the transaction price ultimately
allocated to any performance obligation reflects the amount or
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring the promised goods or services to the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Generally, the Group’s revenue from provision of services is
recognised over time. The Group measures the progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s
inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to
the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services. If the relevant services are due for
payments irrespective of the number of acts performed by the
Group, the revenue is recognised over time on a straight-line basis
during the terms of the relevant contracts.

In certain circumstances where the Group has a right to
consideration from a customer in an amount that corresponds
directly with the value to the customer of the Group’s performance
to date, the Group recognises revenue based on the amount the
Group has a right to invoice.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4,
(Continued)

SR E5HBER (18)

(o) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Warranty and right of return

The Group’s contracts with customers for sales and development
of customised software/applications generally do not provide
customers a right of return (a right to exchange another product
or right to refund in cash). In addition, return of defective products
rarely occurs as products sold to customers generally meet the
objective specifications required by customers or the customers
have accepted the products when they have taken possession of
the products and made payments. Any necessary costs incurred in
rectification of products sold such as bug-fixing during the warranty
period are insignificant to the consolidated financial statements.

No warranty is provided by the Group for sales of goods to
customers arising from its trading business to customers.

Recognition of major source of revenue from contracts with
customers

The Group’s revenue from contracts with customers is principally
derived from development of software or applications and provision
of related services in relation to Fintech, Linux-based systems and
others. In addition, the Group also has revenue from sales of goods.
A number of the Group’s contracts or contracts made with the
same customer around the same time included multiple deliverables
relating to one or more of its goods and services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R e M REMEE (E)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=A=+—H

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4,
(Continued)

SR E5HBER (18)

(o) UWATESR (48)

(o) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Recognition of major source of revenue from contracts with BREF X Wiz EERIR (1)
customers (Continued)
(i) Software development () EEE

Software development mainly involved the services rendered
by the Group in customisation of the Group’s existing core
software for use by the customers. The core software cannot
be used by the customers until they have been customised by
the Group and delivered to the customers.

Therefore, the core software are highly interdependent and
interrelated with the customisation services and are considered
as one performance obligation. Although the in-progress
customised software have no alternative use to the Group,
the terms of the contracts do not provide the Group with an
enforceable right to payment that at all times throughout the
duration of the contracts, the Group is entitled to an amount
that at least compensates the Group for performance completed
to date (if the contracts are terminated by the customers or
another party for reasons other than the Group’s failure to
perform as promised). Accordingly, revenue from sales and
development of customised software is generally recognised at
the point in time when the customised software are delivered
to the customers and the Group has considered they have
met the objective specifications required by the customers. i.e.
the customers have obtained the control of the customised
software.

BHHETESRAEEREEHRERA
SERBERLOBMARELER - RALRE
EHRZNERPH - EPTEERZEZ
DB o

FEt - LB B E SRS = E R E BN
EEMBYRR A —RENEE - BEET
PEEHISHEAKERFLEERAE
BRHGERILEREAREBEREREEHHR
N—EHRERRGBITEN  KNEEZ
BEIHEARBESTRNETNH SR (Y
BRHERFPE S —TREAEEREWNNET
BRI RELL L) - Bt - $HERFEE
HlE R E RN EN R RN ETP K
AEECRR/ENAEPRENBEREDN
5 f) B (BN 2 P 2 HRAS5E 1 R 1 Ao 2 1 4 ) e

e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e RERME (8)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=-A=+—H

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Recognition of major source of revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

(i) Provision of services relating to Fintech, Linux-based systems
and others

These services include provision of post-contract support
services (after sales of customised software to customers),
technical support and other auxiliary services.

These services represent one single performance obligation and
the customers simultaneously receive and consume the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs.
Therefore, revenue from these services are recognised over
time.

In certain circumstances where the customer could only obtain
the substantial benefits when the Group has completed its
services, revenue is recognised at a point in time.

(i) Sales of goods

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when the customers
have obtained control of the goods, being when the goods are
delivered to the respective customers’ specific locations and
have been accepted by customers.

The Group’s contracts with customers from the sale of goods
generally do not provide customers a right of return (a right
to exchange another product or right to refund in cash). In
addition, return of defective products seldom occurs as goods
sold to customers generally meet the objective specifications
required by customers or the customers have accepted the
goods when they have taken possession of the goods and
made payments. Any necessary costs incurred in replacement
or rectification of defective goods sold are insignificant to the
consolidated financial statements. No warranty is provided by
the Group for goods sold to customers.

@ Thiz Technology Group Limited ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R e M REMEE (E)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=A=+—H

REVENUE, OTHER REVENUE AND GAINS 5. KA -~ Hfthig AR &
An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other revenue and gains is as follows: REBWA -~ HtA Rz 2 0T
2020 2019
kg %3 —T-hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
=3 BETT BT T

Revenue from contracts with customers: EFSHWA :

Software development AR
- Sales of customised software/ —HET St EARER
applications 5,113 3,945
— Provision of related services and others — IR AR RE RIS R E A 4,874 4,235
9,987 8,180
Sales of goods HEEm 186 6,122
Revenue from other source H At W A SR 0] 10,173 14,302
Rental income HEHKA (ii) 7,562 2,810
Total revenue F N 17,735 17,112
Other revenue and gains/(losses), net: Hitlg AR Wi (B58) - F8 .
Fair value loss on investment properties BWEMEATEER 15 (445) (2,923)
Interest income FLEWA 68 134
Compensation in respect of the termination 4% |- Uz 38 B2 A R #HE
of acquisition of a target company 1,200 -
Sundry income HEIEWA 48 116
871 (2,673)
Revenue, other revenue and WA~ Efblg AR
gains/(losses), net Wk, (E518) F58 18,606 14,439

BERHAEEAR AR 2019/20F 1 @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e RERME (8)

31 March 2020 —E=-ZT&F#=A=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER REVENUE AND GAINS

WA ~ Eftb Ut AR U s (78)

(Continued)
Notes: lE
()  Timing of recognition of revenue from contracts with customers i) WEREPANBARERE
2020 2019
—E-EF —T-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BB T
Over time —BEHERA 4,874 4,235
At a point in time (AR - 5,299 10,067
10,173 14,302

Revenue from sales of customised software/applications and sales of goods is
recognised at a point in time. Revenue from provision of services is generally
recognised over time. Further information about the accounting policies on
revenue recognition is set out in note 4(o).

The information about trade receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities
from contracts with customers as at 31 March 2019 and 2020 is set out in
notes 16, 17 and 20 respectively.

(i) Rental income for the year ended 31 March 2020 included income amounting

to HK$6,088,000 (2019: HK$1,171,000) from sublease of certain properties
under operating leases of which the Group is the intermediate lessor.

@ Thiz Technology Group Limited ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group determines its operating segments based on the reports
reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that are used to make
strategic decisions and to assess the performance.

The Group has three (2019: three) reportable segments. Each of the
Group’s reportable segments represents a strategic business unit that
offers products and services which are subject to risks and returns
that are different from those of other business segments. Details of the
business segments are summarised as follows:

(@) the trading business segment that engages in the trading of
computer accessories and household goods;

(b) software development segment which comprises (i) development
of Fintech related customised software/applications and provision
of related services and (i) provision of technical support and other
auxiliary services relating to Linux-based systems and others; and

(c) the property leasing segment that engages in property leasing in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

Segment assets exclude cash and cash equivalents and other unallocated
head office and corporate assets as these assets are managed on a
group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude amount due to a shareholder, deferred tax
liabilities and other unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as
these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Central revenue and expenses including other revenue and gains/losses
(except for fair value gain/loss on investment properties) and finance costs
are not allocated to the operating segments as they are not included in
the measurement of the segments’ profit/loss that is used by the chief
operating decision-makers for assessment of segment performance.

e M RERME (R)

31 March 2020 —Z=ZFF=-A=+—H

NEIRS

REEEE 2 EERRE MBI LA AEHRE LG
RAZMEETELEDE -

AEBEE=BA(CZE-—NF: Z@)AI2HD M - K&
BRI 2RO MIERMERRRB 2 RBEBEL - I
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e M EREME (8)

31 March 2020 —E=-ZT&F#=A=+—H

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. NS (5&)
(a) Business segments (a) BN
Trading business Software development Property leasing Consolidated
BHHY B VEZi &4

Fintech related Linux-based and others

SRNERE Linx 25 R E AR
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
IRIRE CTNE CBIRE CT0F BB CTNF CECRE CTNE CBCRE TR0
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
E8Tn ANTT  BMTR AUTT BETn  E%Tr  EBTn  BET EBTr ARTR

Revenue from external customers RENRZEZMA 186 6,122 7,726 6,484 2,261 1,696 7,809 2810 17982 17,112
Inter-segment revenue AHEBA - - - - - - (247) - (247) -
Reportable segment revenue AZRABUA 186 6,122 7,126 6,484 2,261 1,696 7,562 2810 17,735 17,112

Reportable segment profit/{loss) A2E TR/ (58 (170) (1,109 1,958 (5,892) 1,626 424 7121 (1187) 10,541 (7,758)
Reportable segment assets IERABEE 724 720 2,359 1,723 - - no 46,818 74,284 49,261
Reportable segment liabilties BEEGED-1 (5) @43 (1,512 (2734 (20) - (16,399) (842 (18,636) (4419

Other segment information; ElAdas

Fair value loss on investment FENFLTERE

properties - . - . - S W) 3 B 9
Depreciation il - - 56 46 - - - - 56 46
Unallocated depreciation AOENE 345 1
Total depreciation RELE 401 47

Additions to non-current assets MIZETBEE - - 79 199 - - 5,447 - 5,526 199
Unallocated additions to non-current ~ kAEFNZIFRHEE

assets - -
Total additions to non-current assets  RIIZ R EEAE 5,526 199

@ Thiz Technology Group Limited ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R e M REMEE (E)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=A=+—H

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. NEPIE (88)
(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit/(loss), (b) SISWAB2EM () - BEREEZH
assets and liabilities iR
2020 2019
=ECFF —
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRBATDER S (B18)
Reportable segment profit/(loss) A 2®RHIHEF], (ER) 10,541 (7,758)
Other revenue and other gains H AW R E A Y= 1,316 250
Corporate and other unallocated expenses PEREMRS RS (6,656) (5,770)
Finance costs BEhE B AR (1,471) (30)
Consolidated profit/(loss) before taxation BRBLAIAR A A, (B51R) 3,730 (13,308)
Assets EE
Reportable segment assets AE2RAHEE 74,284 49,261
Current tax recoverable AT ElE BT IR 338 337
Time deposit with maturity over 3 months FEABA=EA 2 EHEFER 1,422 -
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEEHEE 24,874 29,530
Unallocated corporate assets ROMEEEE 837 62
Consolidated total assets RAEBERE 101,755 79,190
Liabilities afE
Reportable segment liabilities AZ2{sHaE (18,636) (4,419)
Current tax liabilities BENIREE (209) (170)
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEE (6,335) (3,898)
Unallocated corporate liabilities APEETEEE
— Amount due to a shareholder —FERRRRIA (486) (486)
- Others — At (3,595) (4,243)
(4,081) (4,729)
Consolidated total liabilities RAEBERE (29,261) (13,216)

BERHAEEAR AR 2019/20F 1 @
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e RERME (8)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=-A=+—H

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(c) Geographic information

During both reporting periods, the Group’s operations and non-
current assets other than financial instruments (specified non-
current assets) are located in Hong Kong, Taiwan and the PRC.
The specified non-current assets information below is based on the
location of assets.

Segment information of the Group by geographical locations of
customer is presented as below:

Hong Kong
B
2020 2019

—E-Ef TN ZBZ

6. DB} (@)
(c) I BER
RAEREHEAN  AEEZEBRBEMTACE
EHRDEE) N2 ERDEESANEE - 48
RFPE - LTHEIRBAEAR T AEME

215 o

BEPREMBDAREZ D RERAT

Taiwan PRC Consolidated
=) H RE
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
B “NE ZBIRF _TNF ZBoRE FONF

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000

Revenue from external ~ KEIREE 2 WA
customers 2,597 1,819

Specified non-current BEFRBEE
assets 4 9

(d) Information about major customers

Revenue from the Group’s major customers which contributed
10% or more of the Group’s revenue are set out below:

1,206

81

4,854 13,932 10,439 17,735 17,112

107 71,990 46,765 72,075 46,881

(d) E2EFZER

REEREERAEERAIO%HIA ENEFBERSZ
BTAFFIET

2020 2019
—B-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Software development: B
Customer A ZHEA 2,597 1,757
Customer B ®FB N/A* 2,720
Customer C BFEC 3,443 N/A*
Trading business: BH¥K:
Customer D ZFD N/A* 2,141
6,040 6,618

* Revenue from Customer B and Customer D during the year ended
31 March 2020 contributed less than 10% of the total revenue of
the Group. Revenue from Customer C during the year ended 31
March 2019 contributed less than 10% of the total revenue of the
Group.

@ Thiz Technology Group Limited ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R e M REMEE (E)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=A=+—H

FINANCE COSTS

7. RAEAUKN

2020 2019
—ECERF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BET T
Interest payable to a director EREEFL - 30
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENS 1,471 -
1,471 30
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION 8. MRTRanER, (&518)
2020 2019
—ECERF —T-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Profit/(loss) before taxation is arrived at after charging/ BRBIRTE R (E518) kR
(crediting): GTA) T3I&I1E -
Cost of sales and services (Note below) S8 BRI AR (T P 3E) 3,649 14,488
Depreciation e 401 47
Minimum operating lease payments previously classified — JCRIBEE B @R FE1757D
as operating lease under HKAS 17 HAKERE 2 HEAERE -
office premises and a staff quarter MAEYEREIES - 2,083
Short-term lease payment REATREN K 267 -
Auditor’s remuneration AN <
- Audit fee —BRE 809 1,032
- non-audit fees —FEZE 500 584
1,309 1,616
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment loss) REEN A ENEMEERE
on financial assets at amortised cost &8, CREE B E)
— Trade receivables (Note 31 (a)) — FEWBRIE (Ft3E31(a)) 4 23
— Contract assets (Note 31 (a)) —&aHEE MEE31() (2) 8
— Lease receivables (Note 31 (a)) —FEWE S (Mt3E31(a) 2) 3
- 34
Staff costs (Note below) 8 TAA (T XX E)
(including directors’ emoluments): (BREEFRHD) :
Salaries and other benefits Fre REAMER 6,934 10,714
Pension scheme contributions RIREFTEME K 1,229 2,899
8,163 13,613
Note: B 5E -

Staff costs of HK$3,698,000 (2019: HK$7,308,000) are also included in “Cost of

sales and services”.

[$HE RRBARA] -

8 T 73,698,000/ T (ZZ— N4 : 7,308,000/ 7T) K&t A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMHHREME (E)
31 March 2020 —ZE=-ZTH=A=+—H
9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ 9. EBNSHRTBASHE
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing (a) MRIRGEM EMRRAIABEE SR ANEN (F6228) %
Rules in relation to the disclosure under Section 383 of the Hong 3831 ([ &0 ) R ARRA(5£622GE) (FHEE
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) (the Ordinance) and the ERAMZEMBER) ([ZRADEE2EEFHe W
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) T
Regulation (Cap. 622G) (the Regulation) are as follows:
Salaries, Pension
Directors’ allowances and scheme
fees other benefits contributions Total
e 2E BiRe
-tk REMBER FHEIHRR @st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BETT BET T
2020 ottt 73
Executive Directors: HITES
Wong Hoi Wong Fslg - 1,030 18 1,048
Yang Hui Ling LY 48 - - 48
Non-executive Directors: FERITES -
Hsieh Yi Chen HEE 48 - - 48
Wu Chiao Ru 85yl 48 - - 48
Hsieh Ju Lin s 48 - - 48
Independent Non-executive Directors: B JF#1TEE ¢
Chan Mei Sze eSS 48 - - 48
Chu Meng Chi REE 48 - - 48
Chen Yun Jung (appointed on REAR_T—NEF+
22 October 2019) A-+-BEZHF) 21 - - 21
Lin Yan Jenny (resigned on Wi (R=ZE—NF+ A
25 July 2019) ~+RHABE) 12 - - 12
321 1,030 18 1,369

Thiz Technology Group Limited ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R e M REMEE (E)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=A=+—H

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ 9. ESNSRITHRASZHE (18)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(@) (Continued) @@ (&
Salaries, Pension
Directors’ allowances and scheme
fees other benefits contributions Total
e o2 RkE
BEHD RE iz R BE G5 #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT ABBTT BETT BRI
2019 —E-NE
Executive Directors: WITES :
Wong Hoi Wong T - 1,046 18 1,064
Yang Hui Ling (appointed on HEE R ZT—N\F
8 October 2018) +ANBEZRDT) 24 - - 24
Lin En Fu (resigned on maEE RZE—N\F
20 September 2018) NAZ+HBE) - 433 - 433
Non-executive Directors: FERITES -
Hsieh Yi Chen HEZE 48 - - 48
Wu Chiao Ru RT3 4R 48 - - 48
Hsieh Ju Lin (appointed on Hne (R=T—N\F
8 October 2018) +ANBEZRDT) 24 - - 24
Lin Chien Hsin (resigned on MER (RZT—N\F
19 September 2018) NATABE) 24 - - 24

Independent Non-executive Directors: B JEHITEE :

Chan Mei Sze R 3 55 48 - - 48
Chu Meng Chi KEE 48 - - 48
Lin Yan Jenny AR 48 - - 48
312 1,479 18 1,809
There were no arrangements under which a director waived or RAFERBAFE  BEANESHEXRENR
agreed to waive any emoluments, and neither incentive payment nor EEMAMNE 2 L8 - AMBEET AR Rk E
compensation for loss of office was paid to any director during the B 2 HES N PHERNES -

current and prior year.

RIS RHASEAR AR 2019/20F 3k @
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e M EREME (8)

31 March 2020 —E=-ZT&F#=A=+—H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ 8. EBKERITERASZME (&)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Details of emoluments paid to the five highest paid individuals b) RFAMAEERHFATBE—EESE( TN
F - MBER)IMNMEZ2FBEHINME - RF
A AEEZHBTEZ(ZE—NEF  =ZR) &0
EBEZME 2FBHINMT -

during the year included one director (2019: two directors) whose
emoluments are set out above. Details of remuneration of the
remaining four (2019: three) highest paid employees of the Group
during the year are as follows:

2020 2019

=ECFF —

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Salaries, allowances and other benefits e EMREMET 1,740 1,455
Pension scheme contributions RIS TR 79 282
1,819 1,737

RAFERBREFE SEeeEHEAENME AR
S #E#51,000,000/8 7T ©

The aggregate emoluments of each of the highest paid employees
were less than HK$1,000,000 for the current and prior years.

The aggregate emoluments of each of the members of senior BREEESKEZMERBEETIEMEENR -
management were within the following bands:

2020 2019

—BoBF —ET-NE

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A AL

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 8 9
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7c £ 1,500,000/ 7T 1 1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

10. PENSION SCHEMES

11.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all of those employees of the
Group in Hong Kong who are eligible to participate in the scheme. The
MPF Scheme has operated since 1 December 2000. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme. A retirement contribution scheme
similar to that of the MPF Scheme is also operated for the employees in
Taiwan.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which operate in the
PRC are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. The PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute a percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The central pension scheme is responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to all retired employees and the Group has no further
obligations for the pension payments on post-retirement benefits beyond
the annual contributions.

The Group’s contributions to pension schemes for the year ended 31
March 2020 amounted to HK$1,229,000 (2019: HK$2,899,000).

TAXATION

(a) Taxation for the year

10.

1.

e M RERME (R)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=A=+—H

RifE 5t S

RBEHEDREFT IR - SAKERBENORES
ER2EGEZEEBRETRBHEIESRKRBRG
g ([aEestdl)) BESFEHE —_FTRF+_A—
BERIRENE - ARBERERELAFEX —BOLLIEL
H - RARBERBEESHBRAELHREERE A
B RS BIZEEFNBUERES  BAKEYZ
BESRFKA - AREFRRBESHEEH 2EBEIHF2
BHEEMA - AEETELBEEERMAURTES
Bl R RETE -

RABEEZAREMBARZREAZHAE BT
FHEIEZ R RIBAREFE - ZETRMBERRARTES
R—BoAPRRRSEEER MR - hREAKER
BAXNE2RCERNERZMERNKE  MAKEBA
FE R EFA 2 BRIE B AR EMBRASEE -

REBEE-_Z-_ZTF-A=1+—HLLEFE A&£EELR
R&EH &I 31,229,000/ 7T (ZZF — L4 : 2,899,000
ETL) ©
wia

(a) RFEMIA

2020 2019
=ECFF —
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Current tax B HERIE

- Hong Kong —E _ B
- Elsewhere — EAfthtth 75 75 -

— Under provision of taxation elsewhere of —BEFEE AN T RIE
prior year BETRE - 50
75 50
Deferred tax (Note 11 (b)) IRFERITA (5511 () 397 (371)
Taxation for the year REERIA 472 (321)

BERHAEEAR AR 2019/20F 1 @
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
IREMIEREME (E)

31 March 2020 —E=-ZT&F#=A=+—H

11. TAXATION (Continued) 11. I8 (&)

(a) Taxation for the year (Continued) (a) RFEERIE (&)

Taxation elsewhere for the year ended 31 March 2020 had been made BE-_ZT-_TF=-A=-+—HALLFEEMHBENT
at a tax rate applicable to the relevant jurisdictions. No provision for HEREBAZEERMNBERREMMN - HRAE
current tax had been made in the year ended 31 March 2019 as the EREBE_T - NF=ZA=+—HLEFELEME
Group had no estimated assessable profits for that years. JERTUEF - MW HHZEFEHIEELBE -

Taxation for the year can be reconciled to profit/(loss) before taxation

AEERALRRGABRR M EM2ARERAEZ

per consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive BRELATE R (B518) 2 HBRMT -
income as follows:
2020 2019
gt 23 —T-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEFT BT
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRELATE T (E518) 3,730 (13,308)
Taxation charge/(credit) calculated at Hong Kong 1#£16.5% (ZF— L6 : 16.5%)
Profits Tax rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) ZEENEHRERGFHE 2B
X GEA) 615 (2,196)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TAMBRAZ 2 R E 940 856
Effect on different tax rate of subsidiaries operating R E/MALEEREE 2B AT
in the other jurisdictions TRME 2 8 (193) (730)
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses RERMBEB 2 RBTE 49 2,110
Tax effect of other unrecognised deductible Hit R ERERMEEZEE BB
temporary differences &= - (204)
Utilisation of unrecognised tax losses in previous B LA FERERTIEEE
years (739) (192)
Under-provision in respect of prior year BEFERETR - 50
Tax effect of non-taxable items TAIEBMIBE 2RI E (200) (15)
Taxation for the year REFERIE 472 (321)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R e M REMEE (E)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=A=+—H
11. TAXATION (Continued) 11. I8 (48)

(b) The components of recognised deferred tax liabilities (b) ERABELEHRESB2HBBAWNT :
are as follows:

Revaluation

and other

temporary

Accelerated difference of

depreciation investment
allowance properties Total

REVFEEMR
MERERE HMEOREEER wEt
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT
At 1 April 2018 R_ZE—-N\FMA—H 1,760 2,812 4,572
Charge for the year AEEZNKR 359 (730) (371)
Exchange realignment b H (117) (186) (303)
At 31 March 2019 RZTE—hF=A=+—8 2,002 1,896 3,898

Initial application of HKFRS 16 Leases BXEABEY RS LR

(Note 2(a)(i)) 16571 E (FFE2(a)() - 2,461 2,461
At 1 April 2019 (restated) RZZ-AFMOA—REET)) 2,002 4,357 6,359
Charge for the year REFZ R 344 53 397
Exchange realignment ER kS (138) (283) (421)
At 31 March 2020 RZZEZZE=F=+—H 2,208 4,127 6,335
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e M EREME (8)

31 March 2020 —E=-ZT&F#=A=+—H
11. TAXATION (Continued) 11. %18 (48

(c) The components of unrecognised deductible temporary (c) RiERANREFHERAMBAWT -
differences are as follows:

2020 2019
=ECFF —
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Unutilised tax losses AEABIAERE
PRC subsidiaries ez NG 7,618 11,036
Companies operating in Hong Kong REBKE ZNF] 22,430 22,886
30,048 33,922
Note: Mk -
Deferred tax assets in respect of the deductible temporary differences have ARBRS RERB AR T EEES Y FEERORF 2 K
not been recognised in the consolidated financial statements owing to the AP W ER W ERGA M IERE AR AT
absence of objective evidence in respect of the availability of sufficient taxable HEEMEERRELRIEEE -
profits that are expected to arise to offset against the deductible temporary
differences.
The unutilised tax losses accumulated in the PRC subsidiaries would expire in FEHBAG 2 NAHEREBERES NS EEE
five years from the respective year of loss sustained respectively. The unutilised FEERFAENER RESLENZZEETEAND
tax losses accumulated in those group entities operating in Hong Kong can be kB FE R TE B 1R T PR B4k 6 o
carried forward indefinitely.
12. DIVIDEND 12. RR
No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during the year AATIREARERRFSTRERBE (ZE—NE
(2019: HK$NIl). ETHEIT) o
13.EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 13. SRR (B518)
The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 March BE-ZE-EF=-A=+—RHLFE SRELXRFT
2020 is based on the profit attributable to owners of the Company RN T A ATEIEZEF3,258,00048 T (ZE— LF -
of HK$3,258,000 (2019: loss per share based on loss attributable to AATHEAEGER, SKREE12,960,00008 1) &
owners of the Company of HK$12,960,000) and weighted average of FRE BTN LEAR280,750,261 1 (ZF—H
280,750,261 (2019: 278,120,124) ordinary shares in issue during the 4 278,120,124/%) st & -
year.
The Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding during RNEE-_E-_FEFER—_FE—HAE=-A=+—RHLEE "
the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. Accordingly, the basic and AABWENAESEH LR Bl HE2—_T—
diluted earnings/(loss) per share for the respective years ended 31 March EER—E-NF=A=+—HILEFEZEREARAR#
2020 and 2019 are the same. SERF (B AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R e M REMEE (E)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=A=+—H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Mm% - BMERHK
Right-of-
Furniture use asset
Computer Office and Motor for own
equipment equipment fixtures vehicles use Total
BA®KA
EHRE PLERE BWMREE RE HEE #Et

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT EBBTx AT A%Trxe BETT EBBT

(Note 27(p))
(FsE27(b))
Cost: %N
At 1 April 2018 MZZ—N\FEHA—H 639 1,204 394 217 - 2,454
Additions NE 100 96 3 - - 199
Disposals & (46) (46) (3) (217) - (312)
Exchange adjustment e 5, 38 B (19) (53) (17) - - (89)
At 31 March 2019 R=Z-AF=A=+—H 674 1,201 377 - - 2,252
Initial applications of HKFRS 16 & X EAE B KR E
leases (Note 2(a)(i)) ER|FE16IRHE

(BH&E2(2)(i)) - - - - 777 777
At 1 April 2019 (Restated) RZZE-NFHA—R

€27 674 1,201 377 - 777 3,029
Additions NE 75 4 - - - 79
Disposals k= (206) (798) (149) - - (1,153)
Exchange adjustment PE W A% (77) 2 (6) - - (85)
At 31 March 2020 R-ZB-EHE=A=+-—H 466 405 222 - 777 1,870
Accumulated depreciation: RETINE
At 1 April 2018 R-Z—-N\FMA—H 596 1,193 394 217 - 2,400
Charge for the year REEZH 26 21 - - - 47
Eliminated on disposals o R 8 (46) (46) 3) (217) - (312)
Exchange adjustment R (10) (52) (17) - - (79)
At 31 March 2019 R-ZB-AFE=A=+—H 566 1,116 374 - - 2,056
Charge for the year REFZH 41 14 1 - 345 401
Eliminated on disposals S IR 8H (206) (798) (149) - - (1,153)
Exchange adjustment ERRIECE (11) 14 (6) - - 3)
At 31 March 2020 R=-ZB-_ZF=A=+—H 390 346 220 - 345 1,301
Carrying amount: BRMEE :
At 31 March 2020 R-Z2-Z2H=A=+—H 76 59 2 - 432 569
At 31 March 2019 W_E-AF=ZA=+—H 108 85 3 - - 196
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements [

e RERME (8)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=-A=+—H
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. IR EM*E
HK$'000
FHETT
Fair value: ANTAE
At 1 April 2018 RZE—-N\FMNA—AH 53,125
Change in fair value included in other losses (Note 5) PIAEAMEE 2 A FELZE) () (2,923)
Exchange realignment b (3,517)
At 31 March 2019 originally presented RZE—NE=ZA=1+—H WR%Z7 46,685
Initial application of HKFRS 16 (Note 2(a)(i) BREREENBRELENEI6REE
(B =E2(2) ) 24,556
At 1 April 2019 (As restated) —E-AFHA—BEEET) 71,241
Addition of right-of-use assets that meet the definition of %Eﬁé\&ﬁ%%m?& WiEREEE
investment properties 5,447
Change in fair value included in other losses (Note 5) PIAEAMEBEZ A FEZS) () (445)
Exchange realignment B 3 38 2 (4,737)
At 31 March 2020 R-ZB-TF=A=+—H 71,506

The rental income earned by the Group from its investment properties
leased out under operating leases amounted to HK$7,562,000 (2019:
HK$1,639,000) for the year. No direct operating expenses were incurred
on the investment properties in both years.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March 2020
has been arrived at on market value basis carried out by RHL Appraisal
Limited, an independent firm of professional valuer which holds a
recognised and relevant professional qualification and has recent
experience in the location and category of the investment properties being
valued.

The fair value of investment properties is a level 3 recurring fair value
measurement. A reconciliation of the opening and closing fair value
balance is set out in the above table.

Change in unrealised loss for the year included in profit or loss for
investment properties held at 31 March 2020 amounted to HK$445,000
(2019: unrealised loss of HK$2,923,000).

Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment properties are
classified as investment properties. Their movements during the year
ended 31 March 2020 are shown in note 27(b).

@ Thiz Technology Group Limited ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

AEEREERARBLAEHELB ZREDNEMS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R e M REMEE (E)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=A=+—H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. 1R EME (58)
The major inputs used in the fair value measurement of the Group’s AEBREMEATFEAENAZEEZGABBIRT
investment properties are set out below: X
Relationship of
Fair value  Valuation technique unobservable inputs to
Investment properties hierarchy and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs fair value
EERM R FTABEYEE
REME DREER FEBABE EATABRERARE AFEZBR
Commercial units owned Level 3 Comparison approach Recent market asking price of comparables, to be The higher the asking
by the Group B3R The key input is taken into account of the discount on asking price, the higher the fair
REBRFAZEEEN recent market asking price and size between the subject properties and value
price of comparables the comparables, ranging from HK$29,000 to FERS  AIRTFERS
thEsE HK$35,000 (2019: HK$33,000 to HK$36,000) per

FEHABE B square meter.

EMEsTEEE  ULRERDEFLHATEME  LEEMERNRER
MERTLEME A/ - BEHTTFHK29,000
T E35,00058 7T (ZZ— N4 : 33,0008 T E

36,0007 7T) °
Car park spacing located  Level 3 Comparison approach Recent market asking price of comparables, to be The higher the asking
in the same building of 534 The key input is taken into account of the discount on asking price price, the higher the fair
the above commercial recent market asking and location between the subject properties and value
units price of comparables the comparables, ranging from HK$200,000 to FERS  AAFERS
IR ER F R B AER HBA HK$390,000 (2019: HK$233,000 to HK$338,000)
NE 2 BB FEHARE BT per car park spacing.

LSRR 2 TISEE AHECRE T SETSEE  SEERERNRE
BiZYERR L ECREN 2 E - BB HEA
E17200,0007 7T Z390,00058 7T (— T — N4 -
233,000/ 7L £338,000/ 7T) °

Car park spacing (Right- Level 3 Income approach Recent market rental of HK$600 per month, term The higher the market
of-use assets that FE3 The key input is yield of 3%, revisionary yield of 3.5% rental, the higher the
meet the definition of recent market rental  EEATISE AT E A6005E T - FHIKES% - EEE fair value, the higher the
investment properties) WA E WER3.5% term yield, the lower

SHEA (HERANETE FEHABB RIS the fair value, the higher
ZERERE) o Liikn the revisionary yield, the

lower the fair value

mnHels  ATEY
& FHRESS 2T
EME - EFEEREY
& AFEYE

Commercial units (Right- Level 3 Income approach Recent market rental ranging from HK$16,293 The higher the market
of-use assets that ERE The key input is to HK$106,348 per month, term yield of 3%, rental, the higher the
meet the definition of recent market rental revisionary yield of 3.5% fair value, the higher the
investment properties) WAE TEMSE AR T716,2938 T £106,3488 T term yield, the lower

BEEMN(FEREMETE TEHABB ALY FHU 3% « BRI HRER3.5% the fair value, the higher
B ERAREE) ELEEA the revisionary yield, the

lower the fair value

mizHEeHE  ATES
& FHREEE  2F
BEME  BHEEREY
= ATEBE

NI = S = 25 = (£, = Y
The fair value measurement is based on the above properties’ highest AVEERE LRNRRS RAERS - BARR
and best use, which does not differ from their actual use. g mER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
IREMIEREME (E)

31 March 2020

16.

17.

—E-TF=A=+—AH

CONTRACT ASSETS

The contract assets as at 31 March 2019 and 2020 relate to the Group’s
rights to consideration for work completed but not billable at the reporting
date. The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the
rights become unconditional. This usually occurs when the Group issues
invoices to the customers in accordance with the terms of the contracts.
The contract assets are expected to be settled within one year from the
end of the reporting period. Reversal of impairment loss of HK$2,000
(2019: impairment loss of HK$8,000) on contract assets as at 31 March
2020 has been recognised. The details of impairment assessment is set
out in note 31(a).

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS

16.

17.

I

ai&

‘[Iﬂ‘>i

£33

TE-NFRIEITF=A=TH ANEEHR
¢%MET—:WIEZ%HXREE’\J%%UEEE CERIER
HIARARR - REMKAEGETR  AHEEERER
WoR - lrt‘liiﬂ—ﬂ%’\‘$‘§Iﬁ%ﬁlﬁﬁﬁ%%‘%ﬁ%ﬁéi 0
BHEERSRBEDRRE-FRBEFT R_T_FF
ZA=+—H CEREHNEEREBEEER[E2,0008
T(ZF—N%F - FEEES 0008 7T) - B BRE G
H IR EUNRES ()

FEUR R Hfth [EUGRIR ~ #RE K FATRRIA

2020 2019

—BECEF —T-hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Trade receivables M RIE 1,320 1,191

Leases receivable WS 42 130
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments, HAbEUGRIE - ke RIEMNRIE

(net of allowance) (f0BR ) 1,395 681

2,757 2,002

The average credit period granted to the Group’s customers of Linux-
based and others is 90 days (2019: 90 days). For customers of Fintech
related, the payments are generally several days before or after the
invoice date. Lease receivables are generally due for payments monthly
or quarterly in advance. As at 31 March 2020, the ageing analysis of the
Group’s trade receivables net of allowance for doubtful debts, based on
the invoice date was as follows:

REBGTLNXESG R EMBERERP 2 FHEERR
90H (ZZ—N%F : 90R) - & MEEKBMzEF M
TR EERAHASEKBERARBELSIN - &
WHEeBERASFERN KRB TF=A=+—
H - REZRAHFE A EEEKEREE(EMBRRE
B < RO :

2020 2019
=ECFF —

HK$°000 HK$’'000

BT AETT

0-30 days 0Z30H 352 791
31-60 days 31Z60H 352 200
61-90 days 61290H 616 200
1,320 1,191
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R e M REMEE (E)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=A=+—H

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 17. B R EMERFRIE - ERTFETRIE
AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued) (58)
The Group recognised impairment loss based on the accounting policy AEERBM AN EH ST BERERAEREE - R
stated in note 4(f)(ii). Impairment loss of HK$4,000 (2019: HK$23,000) has —TE-TE=F=+—H  CHERREEE4L0008 T
been recognised as at 31 March 2020. (ZZ—AN%F : 23,000%7T) °
Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from ERAAEREEBRREKRIRIE « EibEYRIERE R
trade receivables, other receivables and deposits paid are set out in note ReEEMNEERB 2 FBERME3()
31(a).
18. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 18. RITEHEELIRE
2020 2019
—EZERF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT T
Bank balances and cash RITEEFRBRS 26,296 29,530
Less: Time deposit with maturity over 3 months B BERBBe=EAZ
EHER (1,422) -
Cash and cash equivalents Be ke EEEE 24,874 29,530
As at 31 March 2020, included in the Group’s bank balances and cash RZZE_ZTFZA=Z1+—8 AEEZRTEELRSE
were amounts of approximately HK$13,130,000 (2019: HK$11,388,000) F1#913,130,0008 7T (ZZ—1L4F : 11,388,000/ 7T) LA
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) and kept in the PRC. RMB is not ARE((AREB)&E  WEHRRTE - ARETTA
freely convertible into other currencies. However, under Mainland BHBHEMEE o RM - BRIEPEAREIIMNEEIERTE K
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of KTE  EERNESIERTE » KEER S BEREETT
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the INEER ZIRITRIBAREAHMEE -

Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e M EREME (8)

31 March 2020 —E=-ZT&F#=A=+—H

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS 19. BT RHEEMRIE - EWIRERES K

RECEIVED AND ACCRUALS ]
2020 2019
=ECFHF —
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT
Trade payables (Note (i) FETRRIE (M EE() - 696
Rentals and other deposits received BRES REMIZES 801 545
Other payables and accruals HAb A AR ER B A 2,666 1,605
Refund liability (Note (ii)) RRE & PG - 2,012
VAT payables FEfTIEERR 25 602
3,492 5,460
Notes: B 5T
()  The trade payables were due within one month from invoice date. () ERREREZEASR—EAREIE-
(i) The refund liability represents reduction of sale consideration of goods sold in iy BRABBEHER-ZF_TF=-A=T—HLFENLFEER
prior year which had been refunded to a customer during the year ended 31 mIEERRETEPmSIBIHERENRL -
March 2020.
20. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 00. AEE

The contract liabilities represent considerations received from customers

BHARBAREREFPEBREERIRIGEN TS

before the Group has transferred goods or services to customers. The BWHRE - BB EHENNT ¢

movements of the contract liabilities are set out below:

21.

2020 2019
—B-EF —ZT-hF
HK$’°000 HK$’000
BT BT T
Movements in contract liabilities EHaBERS
Balance as at 1 April ROA—B 248 2,663 862
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising ~ FRERWA (REFVFFAELHE
revenue during the year that were included in the B EHENEERD
contract liabilities at the beginning of the year (1,480) (148)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of receipts in FRNEFPWEERFIBEH S
advance from customers during the year FOR=Ri=s: il 948 1,953
Exchange adjustment b 5 A (83) 4)
Balance as at 31 March R=A=+—Bz#&& 2,048 2,663

Contract liabilities as at 31 March 2020 will be recognised as revenue in

next financial year.

AMOUNT DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER

The amount is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e M RERME (R)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=A=+—H

22. SHARE CAPITAL 22. fR 7K
Number of
shares of
HK$1 each HK$’000
SREEIET
WD EE BET T
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares Tm A
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020 RZZE—-N\FWA—R =%
—NWEF=A=+—HkZ=Z=
TF=A=+—H 430,000,000 430,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHE
Ordinary shares gl
At 1 April 2018 KZE—-N\FMNA—H 260,750,261 260,750
Issue of shares (Note i) TR (B i) 20,000,000 20,000
At 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020 R-ZE—NAF=-ZA=+—RAK=
TE-TE=Ff=+—H 280,750,261 280,750
Note: Mt

(i) On 18 May 2018, the subscriptions of a total of 20,000,000 ordinary shares
of the Company at a subscription price of HK$1 per share pursuant to
the subscription agreements dated 28 March 2018 entered into between
the Company and not less than six independent third party subscribers
were completed. The net proceeds from the subscriptions (after deducting
the expenses of HK$100,000 incurred in the subscriptions) amounted to
HK$19,900,000. The Company intends to apply the net proceeds from the
subscriptions for general working capital of the Group and for other investment
opportunities (if any).

RZZ2-N\FREATNR  REARTETLRANEHEL
E=FRBAFTLERR T - N\F=ZA-+N\BWRH
B - REBR1B TR BEERES $£20,000,000 4K 2
AEBROBEEAS TR - BWBEMGHRFR
B 5288 S I8 AT 4100,00078 7T.2 #52) #94319,900,0007%
T AR BB RBEEMGIRFEMAEAEE —RE
BESRAREMRERE (WE) -

23. CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES 23. O] #a % {8 5 A%
Number of
shares of
HK$1 each HK$’000
SREE1ET
WROEE BETT
Authorised: ERE
Non-voting convertible preference shares BRI RRE LR
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020 RIZ-N\FHA—RH RIZT
—NF=ZA=FT—HARZZT=
TF=A=+—H 90,000,000 90,000

The Company had no issued convertible preference shares as at 31

March 2019 and 2020.

RZZE-NFRZZF-_ZFTF=ZA=+—H  ARFEE

BITAARB SRR -
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e M EREME (8)

31 March 2020 —E=-ZT&F#=A=+—H

24. RESERVES 24. &’

(a) Capital redemption reserve (a) BNEBEORERE
The reserve represents the amount equivalent to the nominal value of ZHBIEEERARTRNBTEEEE ZTHERD
the Company’s shares cancelled arising from repurchased shares in RNEBEL SR
prior years.

(b) Special reserve (b) H5RIGEHE
The reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of HRlEEEAARRNEAEEAREGFRATRNDN
the shares of the Company and the nominal value of the shares of GEMLEmREEAEEAEBEEBAWERE R
the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the reorganisation to rationalise AIRMOEE 2 Z5E -

the structure of the Group in preparation for the listing of the
Company’s shares on the GEM.

(c) Translation reserve (c) ErfEE
The reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from EHREEREMERREGINEGUBRERME
the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. The FEZERERE - ZRERMNT4RMESHBERE
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set 32 o

out in note 4(k).

(d) Reserves of the Company (d) R Sz E
Capital
Share redemption Accumulated

premium reserve losses Total
BRAPRE EAME #E FitER wast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BT BT

(Note 24(a))

(Hi5k24(a))

Balance at 1 April 2018 RZZE-N\FMNA—-BZ

R 16,718 84 (231,018) (214,216)

Expenses incurred for issue of TR EARIFI

shares (Note 22) (FzE22) (100) - - (100)
Loss and total comprehensive B8 R ANFE 2 H K= A58
income for the year - - (18,220) (18,220)

Balance at 31 March 2019 R-E—hFE=ZA=+—H
and at 1 April 2019 ERZZ—NFWHA—H
ZEE% 16,618 84 (249,238) (232,536)

Loss and total comprehensive [E518 & AT [E 2 HE W 4258
income for the year - - (3,388) (3,388)

Balance at 31 March 2020 WZZEZEF=A=+—H
13 16,618 84 (252,626) (235,924)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

24. RESERVES (Continued)
(d) Reserves of the Company (Continued)

The Company had no distributable reserves at 31 March 2019
and 2020. Under the Companies Law (Cap. 22 Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium
is distributable to the shareholders of the Company, provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividends is proposed to
be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

25. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

e M RERME (R)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=A=+—H

24. &t (18)
(d) RSk (&)

ARABRZE-—NEFERZZT-_TF=A=1+—H1
\A D IRGEE c REBERSHESRRZE(—ARN—F
EIFEPIF22F - KIRERER)  BEEED
AR B B HEE - AABREHMEREEEFPRBHZ
&R RORBADIRTFARBRE o

25. RN SIS RN IRE

2020 2019
=ECFF —
Notes HK$’°000 HK$'000
M BET T BT T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries TRt =YNG o £ 46,128 46,128
Current assets REBEE
Bank balances and cash RITHETFRRS 110 3,282
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and deposits received EEMZRERERIZS 1,392 1,176
Net current (liabilities)/assets HiE (BE) EAEFE (1,282) 2,106
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBARS 44,846 48,234
Non-current liabilities EREBAE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAT M B A RIFRE 20 20
Net assets BEEFE 44,826 48,214
EQUITY fEs
Share capital &N 22 280,750 280,750
Reserves s 24(d) (235,924) (232,536)
Total equity DB 44,826 48,214
Director Director
WONG HOI WONG YANG HUI LING
E EFE
FlE BE&
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e RERME (8)

31 March 2020 —ZE=-ZFF=HF=+—H

26.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 26.

The details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2019 and 2020 Hn-E—

are as follows:

Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary

registration and shares/registered

&
-~

{ Al ’
-

\L g

O

PrIGH B NS g m

Percentage of
equity attributable

ontinued)

Name of company operation capital paid up to the Company Principal activities
BRTZER ANE M

NRER SEMRARSL, A R S B HREMER REESLE FEEH

Subsidiary held directly

HERAZHBAR

Thiz Technology Group Holdings British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong Us$100 100 Investment holding

Limited RBRZHES/BE 100% 7T BERR

Subsidiaries held indirectly

BEFEZHELR

Thizlinux Inc. British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$1 100 Investment holding
HEELHEE /BB 17T REER

Thizbiz Inc. British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$1 100 Investment holding
HEELHEE /BB 17T REER

Thiz.com Inc. British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$200,000 100 Investment holding
HEELHEE /BB 200,000% 7T REER

Kingray International Inc. British Virgin Islands/Taiwan US$2,000,000 100 Investment holding
REBRZEE/AE 2,000,000% 7T REER

Thiz.com (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 Investment holding and

BB B 87 (BE) AR QA i 10,000/ 7T provision of software

@ Thiz Technology Group Limited ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R e M REMEE (E)

Name of company

DEEH

26.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of incorporation/
registration and
operation

AT R i B

31 March 2020

—E-THF=A=+—H

26. PGB B 1 B ¢ g (18)

Issued ordinary
shares/registered
capital paid up
BRTZER
BEEMER

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
ANE M

REB D

Principal activities

TREHR

HBEAEBEIRNERHARAF Tawan

4RART

Beijing Thiz Ying Jia International
Trading Co., Limited (“Ying Jia")
(Note)

TR EREZERAEERAR
([&%=]) (=)

ThizLinux Software (Shenzhen)

Company Limited (Note)
BB ORI AR & (P 5T)

1B (L8) 2 AR A (\Jing Rui)
(M#58% 1) (Note) (Bf3E)

HENEFES NS ERAT
(Note) (Fif3E)

Note:

The subsidiaries are registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC

law.

In the opinion of the directors, the above subsidiaries principally affected
the results of the Group for the year or formed a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the

AN -
a/=

PRC, Limited Liability Company
hE - BRAEEAF

PRC, Limited Liability Company
hE - AREEAF

PRC, Limited Liability Company
FE - BREEAF

PRC, Limited Liability Company
FE - BREEAF

opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

NT$1,700,000
1,700,000%7 & %

US$1,950,000
1,950,000%7¢

US$1,300,000
1,300,000%7¢

US$340,000
340,000 7T

US$1,050,000
1,050,000%7¢

UEE

100

100

100

100

100

BERHAEEAR AR 2019/20F 1 @

Provision of software
development service

REH B RS

Provision of software
development service

REHHFERS

Provision of technical
support to Linux
based software and
hardware products

FRAFLinuxEEE (2 &
PAUIST

Property investment

mERE

Provision of software
development service

REHHFERS

ZEMBRADREGBEAEEM I EBERSE -

BEEZERR LAWNBRAREAREAFEXEFERY
BRBREEFEZTZED - MHREEMHERF
ZFE BEZRIRREEERBRILE -
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31 March 2020 —ZE=-ZFF=HF=+—H

&
-~

{ Al ’
-

\L g

O

ontinued)

27.LEASES 27.188
HKFRS 16 was adopted on 1 April 2019 without restatement of BERMBMEENEI6HN _E—NFMOA—HERAD -
comparative figures as detailed in note 2(a). The accounting policies WEBHIME2) AR RET - ERXEABH(CZ
applied subsequent to the date of initial application, 1 April 2019, are T-NFHA—R)ZERANEHERNH T4e)EE -
disclosed in note 4(e).
Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee) A&z & (fFERAMA)
The Group leases certain properties in the jurisdictions from which AEBRESEMECRZEEERMAEE TYE - KE
it operates. All of the property leases’ periodic rents are fixed or re- SR - EMERENTSAS TR EBARIR R ER
negotiated at an agreed interval over the lease term. & S ERER o
(a) Future lease payments as at 31 March 2020 and as at 1 April 2019 () BEZZE-_ZTF-A=+—HAK_ZE—NLFHNA—

are due as follows: HZ RKBERFET :

Minimum lease

payments Interest Present value

REAEMSRK FE BE

31 March 2020 31 March 2020 31 March 2020

—B-%F —E=%F L

=A=+-—H =A=+—H =A=+-—H

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

B¥TT BT BETT

Not later than one year TER—F 5,221 (1,243) 3,978
Later than one year and not later than BR—FEETERME

two years 4,945 (914) 4,031
Later than two years and not later than BAMEETBBART

five years 9,150 (778) 8,372

19,316 (2,935) 16,381

Minimum lease

payments Interest Present value

HIEBEENK LS RE

1 April 2019 1 April 2019 1 April 2019

(Note) (Note) (Note)

—T-NEF —T-NEF —T-NEF

MA—H MHA—H MA—H

(P 7E) (P 7E) (P =)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT BETT

Not later than one year TER—F 4,155 (1,187) 2,968
Later than one year and not later than BR—FEETERME

two years 4,154 (941) 3,213
Later than two years and not later than BRAMEETBBARAT

five years 10,510 (1,204) 9,306

18,819 (3,332) 15,487

@ Thiz Technology Group Limited ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

27.LEASES (Continued)

Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee)
(Continued)

(@) Future lease payments as at 31 March 2020 and as at 1 April 2019
are due as follows: (Continued)
Note:
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the cumulative effect approach
and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 by recognition of lease
liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified as operating leases

under HKAS 17. See note 2(a) for further details about transition.

The present value of future lease payments are analysed as:

e M RERME (R)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=A=+—H

27. & (£8)

THEEEN 2 M & (FRAFMA) (&)

(@ RZEZEF=A=1+—HAEKRZZT—hFHEA—
HZ RKBEERFAT : (8)
HigE -

AEBEERRFFEZERNEABERYBHREENF16
S WAREREARERR G ENE 7R B AL EA
ExHEAEABR_T-NFOA-—BNBN&EH - F
FRIEME — 5 - RIME2()

AEBENKNREATNOT :

31 March 2020 1 April 2019

—E-BF=A=+—AH —T-hFEMA—A

HK$’000 HK$’'000

BT T BEET T

Current liabilities nEBaE 3,978 2,968
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 12,403 12,519
16,381 15,487

(b) Measurements of amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position and profit or loss during the year ended 31

() REZE-Z_TF=A=+—HIEFEGEPBHK
MERRBHRERZ HEE

March 2020:
Right-of-use assets
EREEE
Classified as
investment Held for
properties own use Lease
(Note) (Note) liabilities
PERIREWHE
(M¥EE) E8 A (D) HEAE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BT BT
Amounts recognised upon adoption of RZZ—NFOA—BRAES
HKFRS 16 on 1 April 2019 (Note 2(a)(i)) BT s R 1 69R R TERR
278 (MEE2(2)() 24,556 777 15,487
Inception of new leases A E 5,447 - 5,447
Depreciation e - (345) -
Fair value loss NFEER (445) - -
Interest expense (Note 7) FEFZ (FEE7) - - 1,471
Payments of lease liabilities (Note 30) Y RHEEAE (FES0) - - (5,016)
Exchange adjustments M 5, 8 B (1,720) - (1,008)
As at 31 March 2020 R-ZZB-ZTF=A=+—H 27,838 432 16,381

BERHAEEAR AR 2019/20F 1 @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e RERME (8)

31 March 2020 —E=-ZT&F#=A=+—H

27.LEASES (Continued)

Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee)
(Continued)

(b) Measurements of amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position and profit or loss during the year ended 31
March 2020: (Continued)

Note:

As at 31 March 2020, the right-of-use assets represented properties leased
for own use carried at depreciated costs and for sub-leasing/rental purposes
carried at fair value and are included in the line items as property, plant and
equipment and investment properties respectively.

As lessor

The minimum rent receivables under non-cancellable operating leases are
as follows:

27. & (£8)

TH&358) 2 8 (fFRATMA) (1)

REBZ-_Z-_TF=A=+—-BLEFEFAHBH
MARPBERERZEHEHE - (B)

GEX

RZZE-ZTF=A=+—RB EAREEERRNEXLT
RIEZHEREMNEURRATEIRNSE HE
Rgzmz  AHFEAME - BEREEEREREED
o,

EREBEA

AL EHER T RERS BUGRIANT ¢

2020
—EEF
HK$’000
BT

Not later than one year TEBR—F

7,016

Later than one year and not later than two years ER—FETNERMFE 578

7,594

2019
—ET-NF
HK$’'000
BT T

Within one year —FNKN

5,172

In the second to fifth years inclusive F_FEFAF (RIEEEMF) 1,543

@ Thiz Technology Group Limited ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Material related party transactions and balances are as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Balances with related parties

Details are disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Interest charged by related parties

Details are disclosed in notes 7 and 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Compensation of key management personnel

Details of directors’ emoluments are shown in note 9(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.

The remuneration of other key management during the year was as

e M RERME (R)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=A=+—H

28. BREALRS

BERBBEALR D RAEBNT

(a)

(b)

(c)

BRIEAT 2B

BN A DS BERM 1 A RE -

BREATHRZHR

FENEGA M IS MRM T k21 EE -

TEEBAS S

BEHE 2 FHERRGREMIBERMERME )

RER - BMEREEE 20T

follows:
2020 2019
—BECEF —T-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Short term benefits HIE A 1,740 1,455
Post-employment benefits RURAEF 79 282
1,819 1,737

The directors are of the opinion that the balances with related parties
and related interest charged by related parties, if any, which also
constitute connected transactions under the GEM Listing Rules
were carried out in the normal course of business of the Group and
conducted on terms no more favourable than normal commercial
terms.

BERL  MRBBEALZEHRIABEREA
TWHZE@HAE (WNE) TFEKGEM ETRRIT
ZEER S IR ARE-REBRIEDET B
TMER—AREETS 6K -

RIS RHASEAR AR 2019/20F 3k @
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements [Continued]
IREMIEREME (E)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=-A=+—H

29. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 29. EMMEREIR

The Group’s capital management objectives are:

(i)  to ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern;

(i)  to provide an adequate return to shareholders;

(i)  to support the Group’s sustainable growth; and

(iv) to provide capital for the purpose of potential mergers and
acquisitions.

There is no change in the Group’s capital management objectives from
prior years.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of gearing ratio
which is calculated as total debts divided by total equity. Total debts are
calculated as total borrowings comprising amount due to a shareholder
and lease liabilities (effective from 1 April 2019) as shown in notes 21 and
27. Total equity represents equity attributable to owners of the Company
and non-controlling interest as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The Group’s strategy is to keep the gearing ratio as low
as it can without material adverse impact on its liquidity.

REBEREREHMT

() MERAEEFENIAFELELETE
(i) RBRRBHAIZER

(i) ZRAKEREER M

(iv) FREEARAEITAIBES O RS -

HEFERL  AREZEAEERRYBED -

AEBBRBRBEFRABESRTEZERGEL XE
REARRE - BEKDIRBEERNRAFBEREESRE
(AZZ—NEFmA—BRER (D RanksE21 &27FT
i) 2 B REEEE - BRI R AR AL RER
B BRI R TR BRI B o AN B SR B R AR A
BERFBERABLERMEKRE AT RBDES
EEBRTHTE -

2020 2019

—ECEF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Total debts RER 16,867 486
Total equity e 72,494 65,974
Total debts to total equity ratio BEGERE R 0.23 0.01

The Group sets the amount of equity capital in proportion to its overall
financing structure. The Group manages the capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell
assets to reduce debt.

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

@ Thiz Technology Group Limited ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20
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30. NOTE SUPPORTING CONSOLIDATED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

(b)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

30.

31

meReRE

e M RERME (R)

March 2020 —Z-_ZH&=A=+—H

Rt 5E

(a) BERRESENEIE

2020 2019

=ECFF —

HK$’000 HK$’000

BEFT BETFIT

Bank balances and cash RITEEFENRE 24,874 29,530

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities during the year ended 31 March 2019 and
2020:

(b) REEZE_B-NFR-B_FF=RA=1+—H
EFER > MEFTHMEENERBZHE

Amount due to

Amount due to  Amount due to the spouse of Lease
a director a shareholder a director liabilities
ERESHE EARRFE ENESRBRE HESE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FAT FAT FTAT
At 1 April 2018 RZZE-N\FEA—H 2,609 486 125 -
Changes from cash flows: Rengs
— Repayment of principal —EEXE (1,269) - - -
— Repayment of interest —BEFNE (1,370) - (125) -
Non-cash transactions: FRERS :
— Accrued interests —EEFIE 30 - - -
Total changes from financing BEE M (2,609) - (125) -
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=ZA=+—H - 486 - -
Recognition of lease liabilities upon R ZZ— 6N A —HEM
adoption of HKFRS 16 1 April 2019 BB RS2 AIFE 165
(Note 2(a)(i)) HRZHEEARE
(F=E2(2)() - - - 15,487
At 1 April 2019 (Restated) RZZ-NFMWA—B#&
E )] - 486 - 15,487
Changes from cash flows: Renege
— Repayment of principal portion —BEAEHE - - - (3,545)
— Payment of interest portion —(EEFNENE - - - (1,471)
Non-cash transactions: FRERG -
— Inception of new lease (Note 27(b))  —FItA#H A E (H5E27(b) - - - 5,447
— Interest expense —FIRAX - - - 1,471
Total changes from financing RMEZBEHE - - - 1,902
Exchange adjustment i 5 - - - (1,008)
At 31 March 2020 RZZ-_TF=F=+—H - 486 - 16,381

RIS RHASEAR AR 2019/20F 3k @
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e RERME (8)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=-A=+—H

30. NOTE SUPPORTING CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c) Major non-cash transaction

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the proceeds from share
subscription received in advance of HK$20,000,000 included in other
payables, deposits received and accruals were transferred to share
capital upon allotment of the Company’ shares.

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments in the normal
course of the Group’s business are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate
risk and currency risk.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables,
lease receivables, contract assets, other receivables, deposits paid,
time deposit with maturity over 3 months and bank balances and
cash. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from time deposit
with maturity over 3 months and bank balances and cash is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies for which the Group
considers to have low credit risk.

Trade receivable, contract assets and lease receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer rather than the industry
or country in which the customers operate and therefore certain
concentration of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has
significant exposure to individual customers. The amount due
from two (2019: one) of the Group’s customers in relation to
software development segment as at 31 March 2020 amounted to
approximately HK$1,257,000 (2019: HK$709,000) which accounted
for approximately 78% (2019: 43%) of the trade receivables and
contract assets.

The amount due from the Group’s one of the tenants (2019: one) in
relation to property leasing segment as at 31 March 2020 amounted
to approximately HK$42,000 (2019: HK$93,000) which accounted
for approximately 98% (2019: 72%) of the lease receivables.

@ Thiz Technology Group Limited ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20
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30. =B M ME XM T (&)

(c) EBHREXS

REE-_T-NE-A=Z1+—HLLEE st AEf
EARIE - BURIES KRB ANTBRR D REAT
83 IE20,000,0008 T E R AR R IR (D BL 812 82
:':HXZK °

M5 R R E IR

AEEEMTARAEEBRREFELEZTERRAE
BRE - RBESRER MEXERIEERR

(a) EERAM

FERREZSHFRERTHANEEMEAS
BELAMBBEZAR - AEBZEERBREIER
BREKEN  BUEED  A0EE  EMmEUR
o BENES  BHABR=EA 2 EBFERLR
THEERE - AKREREHRBE=EA 2EH
FRERTEELREMAENERRRER © 7
AR SHFAAEERREERRRENRRE
BRI E N S E BRI ARRTT ©

ERiR > EHNBEREREZ

AEEEHNEERBRE Rﬁéwﬂ?@;)ﬁa’ﬂl%i'\&t
MIERF L ENMBNTEKFMENERATE -
ﬁt%:ﬂégﬁqﬂﬂ“IREEE’\\ZKEEEEMIEJ%)E
ARFEERZERNDBAK - R_FT_TF=H
=+—-8- Eiﬁxﬁﬁ%ﬁ?é"*ﬁﬂ’%lﬁlK‘il,ﬁ\*Wﬁ%
(ZZ—N&F : —R)BFPHIELXR1,257,0008 7T
(ZZF—h4% : 709,000/7T) * HEKEFEELD
BERT8% (ZZ—NEF : 43%) °

RZZZTF=ZA=+—0  ZWEHREDIEYK
REBEF—ZHPHBE(CT—NAF : —R)OA
42,0007t (ZF — /14 : 93,000/ 7T) * 1 FEU
TH®H98% (ZZE—NEF : 72%) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information specific to the
customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which
the customer operates. Trade receivables from sales of goods and
software development are generally due within 30-90 days from the
date of billing. For receivables from tenants, tenants are generally
required to pay rentals monthly or quarterly in advance. Debtors
with balances that are past due are usually requested to settle all
outstanding balances before any further credit is granted. Normally,
the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables, contract
assets and lease receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical
credit loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance based
on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s
different customer bases.

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure
to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables, contract assets and
lease receivables as at 31 March 2020:

e M RERME (R)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=A=+—H

31. M RERER (18)

(a) SERR (58)

FEREBAE TEENEREZEFYAEITER
EEE - ZETEEPRELBARMEL I
MEsE & BRI SN - Wit REBEFMEEE R
UREARFEEMELERENER - HEER
REHHENE P EURRIE RN EZ A R
30E90HRE|H - YA FKREMS - HP—
REIR ASIRERATZ S - BHREBBHER
ANBEEARRLEME - S EEZAENBRID

+
%EI\°

AEERERNENEHNEEEENSEAERY
B AHAERBWES ZEEREE - HIRAE
BEETHE - ARNAEEBENEEERER
TEBRTIREP O BOBEEXFRERS - &
REfREz BEREBSREAEBTRESEE
E—FED -

TR AHEAERR T -_TEF=A=+—HM@A
SIBUERT - & WAEREKAS 2 ESAR KT8
T T

Expected Gross
loss rate carrying Loss Net carrying
(%) amount allowance amount
FEHEBEZE(%) BIREE BRRE REFEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BT T
Trade receivables FEWBR X
Current (not past due) gy (M A e ) 2.0% - - -
Less than 1 month past due BERD R E A 2.0% 359 @) 352
1 month — 2 months past due BEAE A = 2@ A 2.0% 359 ) 352
2 months — 6 months past due B ER2ME A =6 ME A 2.0% 629 (13) 616
More than 6 months but not 1 BB A6 E A
more than 12 months past due B E121E A 2.0% - - -
Over 1 year —FLAE 100% - - -
1,347 (27) 1,320
Lease receivables ElES
Less than 3 months past due BB E A 2.0% 43 (1) 42
Contract assets EHEE
Current (not past due) e (W mER) 2.0% 295 (6) 289

BERHAEEAR AR 2019/20F 1 @
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements [Continued]

e RERME (8)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=-A=+—H

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure

-JTR@.BﬁéIE (mE)

(a) SERR (58)

T%E’rf tIREER -F-NAF=ZA=T—RZEK

to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables, contract assets and AH ﬁ%&ﬂgqﬂﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂ*%ﬂﬁ LEHEE
lease receivables as at 31 March 2019: JEETE!Z B
Expected Gross Net
loss rate carrying Loss carrying
(%) amount allowance amount
FEHEBEE(%) BEREE BRRE REZEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BT T
Trade receivables FEWBR X
Current (not past due) gy (M A e ) 1.9% 292 (6) 286
Less than 1 month past due BER DR E A 1.9% 515 (10) 505
More than 6 months but 1 BR R A6 E A
not more than 12 months BAHEE121E A
past due 1.9% 407 (7) 400
Over one year —FLAE 100% - - -
1,214 (28) 1,191
Lease receivables ElES
Less than 3 months past due BB E A 1.9% 133 (3) 130
Contract assets EHEE
Current (not past due) mEh (W s ER) 1.9% 448 (8) 440

Expected loss rates of trade receivables and lease receivables are

based on actual loss experience over the past one year. These rates

are adjusted to reflect differences between economic conditions

during the period over which the historic data has been collected,

current conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over

the expected lives of the receivables.

For contract assets, the expected loss rate are based on those of the

trade receivables as the contract assets and the trade receivables

are from the same customer bases. The expected loss rate of

contract assets are based on days past due of trade receivables for

groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

e M RERME (R)

31 March 2020 —Z=ZFF=-A=+—H

-JTR@.BﬁéIE (mE)

(a) SERR (58)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade FARUERR - BESRENEEZBBEHE
receivables, lease receivables and contract assets during the year is FEIT -
as follows:
2020 2019
=ECFF —
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEFT BT
Balance at 1 April ROA—B 2z &8 34 -
Net impairment losses recognised during the year 4 N 2 FIE E518 )% 58 - 34
Balance at 31 March REZRA=+—Bz# 34 34
Other financial assets at amortised cost BT B R EHEE

As at 31 March 2020, in addition to the time deposit with maturiy
over 3 months and bank balances and cash which are considered
to have low credit risk, other financial assets at amortised cost of
the Group mainly included deposits paid and other receivables of
HK$446,000 (2019: HK$370,000).

In accordance with the accounting policies on impairment loss as
set out in note 4(f)(ii), the Group has assessed that there was no
significant increase in credit risk of other financial assets at amortised
cost during the reporting period. Accordingly, the measurement of
the expected credit loss is based on 12 months ECLs which was
considered by the directors of the Company to be insignificant.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their
own cash management, including the short term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the Company’s board when the borrowings
exceed certain predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s policy
is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from related parties
and other parties to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

RZZZZTHE=-F=+—H BEGAGTEEREE

RBKEE A BR=EA 2 T HERRBITET K
Beih NEBRBHERATEZEREEETE
BEDNRE RHEMEKKRIE446,0008 7T (ZF
— N4 : 370,000/ T) °

RBEI T4 ()T E ERAESEN G BER - K
SEBELTE  RAREHERAHEZEREE
REEHAZ EERBRIEAEEM - At - 185
EEBEDRT _EABBEERBHE A%
BEFRAZ T _MAABHEEEBITEX -

(b) FEESER

AEENNEBLEERAESANEHESER B
ERReRHBETRGRENEREE - LEMNTE
HMBREFX  BEERCEBREENRESSE
AFEARRIEESHE - AEEZBRETHE
RERBDESTREEBTROZER - UHERE
BRAEZHNRSHEEHUKRMBREA T REMA T
BRENAZEEEE  ENRHLRRHTHES

MK -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements [Continued]
IREMIEREME (E)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=-A=+—H

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) . RREIR (18)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) RENB R (48)
The following table details the remaining contractual maturities of TRINFAEERREARIZECITORMRA R
the Group’s financial liabilities at the end of reporting period, which M EeRABR(BERENT XL (WBZE)R
are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest BREMRBITZHRFEZRE) 2 FhE O 8
payments computed using contractual rates, or if floating, based on IR UARAEEEEEEERE 2 &T A S -

rates current at the end of reporting period) and the earliest date the
Group can be required to pay.

Total Over
contractual Within 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or not more
amount cash flows on demand than 5 years
[EHESES: T R—FR —F0E
FRIEIE RERBE FIRER BEFBEBAESF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
2020 —E-EF
Trade and other payables, JREASF T ELAth JE A< 7R 1E
deposits received and accruals BiR S R IEFTIE 3,467 3,467 3,467 -
Amount due to a shareholder JET AR R IE 486 486 486 -
Lease liabilities HEAR 16,381 19,316 5,221 14,095
20,334 23,269 9,174 14,095
2019 —B-hE
Trade and other payables, JREASF e ELAth JRE A< 7R IE
deposits received and accruals B Wiz & ERT R IE 4,858 4,858 4,858 -
Amount due to a shareholder JEA B BR R IE 486 486 486 -
5,344 5,344 5,344 _
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk arises primarily from bank
balances with variable interest rates.

The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group’s
bank balance at the end of reporting period.

e M RERME (R)

31 March 2020 —Z=ZFF=-A=+—H
-JTR@.BﬁéIE (mE)

(c) W=XRER

AEBZFIFE@RBEE
T8 »

ERERABIPA KRGS 2R

AT ARERRERRZFRFE

2020 2019
—ECERRF “E-hEF
Effective interest rate Effective interest rate
YIRS USRS
HK$’000 % HK$’000
B¥TT BETT
Bank balances and time deposit  $R{T4E 17 & F BiTF K

At 31 March 2019 and 2020, a reasonably possible increase/
decrease in interest rate of 0.25% on bank deposits, with all other
variable held constant, would have insignificant impact on the
Group’s financial performance and accumulated losses for both
years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming
that the change in interest rates had occurred at the beginning of
reporting period and had been applied to the exposure to interest
rate risk for non-derivative financial instruments in existence at the
end of the reporting period. The estimated basis points increase or
decrease represents management’s assessment of a reasonably
possible change in interest rates over the period until the end of next
reporting period.

(d) Currency risk
Currency risk to the Group is minimal as majority of the Group’s
transactions are carried out in the respective functional currencies of
the group entities.

(e) Fair values estimation
All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially

different from their fair values as at the end of respective reporting
periods.

26,296 0.1% 29,630

ﬂi& ZoEF=A=+—8 #17F
&—J FEREROMED AR AT LA T
ﬁ¢0.25% Pﬁﬁﬁf@”ﬂ%h’ﬂ HAKER =
E-NFR-FEFZA=ZT-RALFENTHE
RALRFERNTZETEE -

A ERBRRE DT EMRRF RSB PNRE B
EMEE - WEERREEHRMEYHITES
BMTAZAZREE - LAXTRAGH ZENHIEEE

BUEET—EFERENRBEFETAE
BE 2 EFAE -

(d) S#EER
HRAREZRXZABONEEEREQZEE
HoETT - A ARSBEATREZ E¥EBREER -

(e) R {EGS

ETRTANKERREHREESRTAZA
FEBBEZEBIE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements [Egntinued]
IREMIEREME (E)

31 March 2020 —ZE=ZTF=-A=+—H

32. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 32. B5t{& s RRHER

The Group’s financial position and financial performance are sensitive
to accounting methods, assumptions and estimates that underlie the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements. The Group bases
the assumptions and estimates on historical experience and on various
other assumptions that the Group believes to be reasonable and which
form the basis for making judgements about matters that are not readily
apparent from other sources. On an on-going basis, management
evaluates its estimates. Actual results may differ from those estimates as
facts, circumstances and conditions change.

The selection of significant accounting policies, the judgements and other
uncertainties affecting application of those policies and the sensitivity of
reported results to changes in conditions and assumptions are factors to
be considered when reviewing the consolidated financial statements.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal to the
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Recognition of revenue from software development

The Group has derived revenue from some contracts with customers
in respect of software development which are fixed price contracts
where management considered they comprise two elements i.e. sales of
customised software/applications and provision of post contract support
services. The Group recognises such revenue in accordance with the
accounting policy as stated in note 4(0). In application of this accounting
policy, significant judgements and estimates are required to be made by
management in determining whether contracts contain elements which
should be separated for revenue recognition purposes, whether the
transaction prices of the individual elements as stated in the contracts
represent their respective stand-alone selling price, whether the revenue
should be recognised at a point in time or over time during the respective
reporting periods. A change in an estimate or judgement made in the
revenue recognition could result in a significant change in the amount of
revenue recognised in one or more reporting periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

32. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(Continued)
Impairment losses on financial assets at amortised cost

The assessment of impairment losses on financial assets measured
at amortised cost including trade receivables, lease receivables and
contract assets is performed based on expected credit losses model
commencing as detailed in the accounting policies as stated in note 4(f)(ii).
The Group uses judgements and estimates, and makes assumptions and
selects inputs as considered appropriate in performing the impairment
assessment. Any change in the estimates, assumptions and inputs
adopted in the assessment would increase or decrease the impairment
loss for the year and affect the Group’s net asset value.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties included in the consolidated financial statements
require measurement at fair value, as detailed in note 15. The fair value
measurement of which utilises market observable inputs and data as
far as possible. Inputs used in determining fair value measurements are
categorised into different levels based on how observable the inputs used
in the valuation technique utilised are (the ‘fair value hierarchy’):

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical items
(unadjusted);

Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other than Level 1
inputs; and
Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from market data)

The classification of an item into the above levels is based on the lowest
level of the inputs used that has a significant effect on the fair value
measurement of the investment properties.

The fair value of the investment properties was based on a valuation
on these properties conducted by an independent firm of professional
valuer using property valuation techniques (which made use of those
significant unobservable inputs as mentioned in note 15). A favourable or
unfavourable change to these inputs would result in changes in the fair
value of the Group’s investment properties and the corresponding amount
of fair value gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.

e M RERME (R)

31 March 2020 —Z=ZFF=-A=+—H

32. B5Hb st RFVER (18)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e M EREME (8)

31 March 2020

32.

33.

—E-_THE=A=+—H

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Continued)

Estimation of the incremental borrowing rate for leasing

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease,
and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would
have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security,
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-
use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects
what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when no
observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect
the terms and conditions of the lease. The Group estimates the IBR
using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available
and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the
subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities recognised at 31 March 2020 and 2019 may be categorised as
follows:

32.

33.

5t st RAE (&)

it & 18 £ f& mR il R e fd 5t
AEBEBEZEHETHENRBR SN X - Bt fERE
EEFAE((REEFMNEXDAEMEAE - LEMER
MEBAEERBURERETRNGEERAEEE
BEMALZEE  MABLUERREEUSMBEARS
Be BN 2FIT o Bt EEEFF TR T AER
[ FR - B A B R R (N ERT
BMEXHZHMBLARME) KE A TETHEAR
BRI B Z SR R OFE - RIZRE R RIS B3 - BT BE
WABBA AR - AEEERAREEABRGIOTH
BRE) MEIEEEFA RS BELETERSENG
s (BIanBE A R M B ILE BETAR) -

I

EREEREMEBENBIRS

30!

\

AEBR-_ZEFR-ZZ-NF=ZA=+—HER
CHEERSHBEZERESEHT ¢

2020 2019
—RIRE “E-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT
Financial assets SMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost (including bank RN ECeREE
balances and cash) (BERITEFRES) 28,397 31,221
Financial liabilities eHas
Financial liabilities, at amortised cost REENATEzeRAE
(including lease liabilities) (BEREERE) 20,334 5,344
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

34.EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

(i)

The outbreak of novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) since early January
2020 has affected many business and economic activities in
Hong Kong, the PRC and the globe. The Group has been closely
monitoring the situation of the COVID-19 and will take all possible
and appropriate measures to mitigate any adverse impacts on the
Group’s operations. Based on the Group’s assessment so far, there
should not be material impact on the Group’s ability to operate as a
going concern although its financial performance and position will be
affected to a certain extent which cannot be reasonably estimated at
this stage.

In response to a letter dated 28 February 2020 (the “Letter”)
received from the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) which considered that the Company has failed to
maintain a sufficient level of operation and assets of sufficient value
to support its operation under GEM Listing Rules to warrant the
continued listing of its shares and has decided to suspend trading
in the shares of the Company under GEM Listing Rule 9.04 (the
“Decision”), the Company has on 9 March 2020 submitted a written
request to the GEM Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange to
request for a review of the Decision. The review hearing of the
Decision by the GEM Listing Committee took place on 2 June 2020.
On 12 June 2020, the Company received a letter from the GEM
Listing Committee that they had decided to uphold the Decision to
suspend trading in the Company’s shares under GEM Listing Rules
9.04(3). Under GEM Listing Rule 4.06, the Company has exercised
the right to lodge a review request on 22 June 2020 for the GEM
Listing Committee’s decision to be referred to the GEM Listing
Review Committee for a further review.

35. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2020.

34. 8|S

35.
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Financial Summary
HBHE

The following is a summary of the consolidated results and assets and liabilities UTARERABFREFEMREZGEXEUAREER
of the Group, prepared for the last five years, as extracted from the audited BEZHE  DESEEAANEEIRCEZRGEAMBERE - A
consolidated financial statements of the Group. This summary does not form BWIERBZESMERE BRI -

part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS £

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—E-EfF —E-NF —E)N\F —FtF A
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BET T BT T BETT BT T
Turnover I ON 17,735 17,112 15,184 1,891 1,925
Profit/(loss) from operations KT (B18) 5,201 (13,278) 21,166 (2,818) (3,431)
Finance costs A& A A (1,471) (30) (968) (961) (909)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BB RE A (E518) 3,730 (13,308) 20,198 (3,779) (4,340)
Taxation Fi18 (472) 321 (2,813) (790) (602)
Profit/(loss) for the year ANFEZHRF (E5B) 3,258 (12,987) 17,385 (4,569) (4,942)
Attributable to: AT AL FEA -
Owners of the Company N/NEIEZZ SN 3,258 (12,960) 17,394 (4,559) (4,933)
Non-controlling interests FEPR AR A - (27) ©) (10) )
3,258 (12,987) 17,385 (4,569) (4,942)
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Financial Summary (Continued)
M E ()

R 2= ==
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENGE
At 31 March
R=B=+—8”
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—E-EF —ET-NF —E-N\F —E—+F ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T BT T BT T BT
Non-current assets EmEEE 72,075 46,881 53,179 42,062 42,827
Current assets MENEE 29,680 32,309 40,642 17,887 14,995
Deduct: W
Current liabilities B EE 10,523 9,318 23,766 2,734 3,238
Net current assets B EFE 19,157 22,991 16,876 15,153 11,757
Total assets less current liabilities 4 &ER R AE 91,232 69,872 70,055 57,215 54,584
Deduct: b
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 18,738 3,898 7,181 40,757 31,381
Net assets BEFE 72,494 65,974 62,874 16,458 23,203
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Particulars of Properties

MRFFR

Type Lease term

Properties held for investment BEREWE EEid] HEH
Rooms 1101, 1102, 1114 and 1115, FE g EREE ST R 19995 B Commercial Medium
Car Parking Space Nos. 168, 169, 199 Z11015% ~ 110258 ~ 111458 R11155% [GE3 A

and 200, No. 1999 Jingshajiang Road and
Rooms 701, 702, 703 and 704,

Car Parking Space Nos. 129, 130, 131
and 132 No. 1989 Jingshajiang Road,
Putuo District, Shanghai,

the PRC
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